Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Environment International

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/envint

Review article

An overview of current knowledge concerning the health and environmental consequences of the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant (FDNPP) accident

Abubakar Sadiq Aliyu ^{a,b,*}, Nikolaos Evangeliou ^c, Timothy Alexander Mousseau ^{d,e}, Junwen Wu ^f, Ahmad Termizi Ramli ^b

^a Department of Physics, Nasarawa State University Keffi, P.M.B 1022 Keffi, Nigeria

^b Department of Physics, Universiti Teknologi Malaysia, 81310 Johor Baru, Malaysia

^c Norwegian Institute for Air Research (NILU), Department of Atmospheric and Climate Research (ATMOS), Kjeller, Norway

^d Environment and Sustainability Program, and Department of Biological Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC 29208, United States

^e Faculty of Biotechnology, Chubu University, Kasugai, Japan

^f State Key Laboratory of Marine Environmental Science, Xiamen University, Xiamen 361005, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 July 2015 Received in revised form 15 September 2015 Accepted 17 September 2015 Available online 29 September 2015

Keywords: Biota Human health Fukushima nuclear accident Radioactive contamination Radioecology Source term

ABSTRACT

Since 2011, the scientific community has worked to identify the exact transport and deposition patterns of radionuclides released from the accident at the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant (FDNPP) in Japan. Nevertheless, there still remain many unknowns concerning the health and environmental impacts of these radionuclides. The present paper reviews the current understanding of the FDNPP accident with respect to interactions of the released radionuclides with the environment and impacts on human and non-human biota. Here, we scrutinize existing literature and combine and interpret observations and modeling assessments derived after Fukushima. Finally, we discuss the behavior and applications of radionuclides that might be used as tracers of environmental processes. This review focuses on ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³¹I releases derived from Fukushima. Published estimates suggest total release amounts of 12–36.7 PBq of ¹³⁷Cs and 150–160 PBq of ¹³¹I. Maximum estimated human mortality due to the Fukushima nuclear accident is 10,000 (due to all causes) and the maximum estimates for lifetime cancer mortality and morbidity are 1500 and 1800, respectively. Studies of plants and animals in the forests of Fukushima have recorded a range of physiological, developmental, morphological, and behavioral consequences of exposure to radioactivity. Some of the effects observed in the exposed populations include the following: hematological aberrations in Fukushima monkeys; genetic, developmental and morphological aberrations in a butterfly; declines in abundances of birds, butterflies and cicadas; aberrant growth forms in trees; and morphological abnormalities in aphids. These findings are discussed from the perspective of conservation biology.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	214
2.	Methods of literature search	214
3.	Source term assessment	214
4.	Atmospheric transport and deposition of Fukushima derived radionuclides	216
5.	Impacts of the FDNPP accident on humans	219
6.	Impacts of FDNPP accident on marine ecosystems	221
7.	Impacts of FDNPP accident on terrestrial ecosystems	222
8.	Application of isotopes as tracers for environmental processes	223
9.	Conclusions	224

* Corresponding author at: Department of Physics, Nasarawa State University Keffi, P.M.B 1022 Keffi, Nigeria. *E-mail addresses*: abubakarsaliyu@nsuk.edu.ng, saabubakar2@live.utm.my (A.S. Aliyu).







Acknowledgments	224
References	224

1. Introduction

The accident at the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant (FDNPP) in Japan on March 11, 2011 resulted in a release of about 73 radionuclides (135 in total including radioactive progeny) (IRSN, 2012). It was a direct consequence of a high-magnitude earthquake (~9.0), which occurred in the Pacific Ocean near Japan's east coast, creating two massive tsunamis that in turn struck Japan about 1 h following the earthquake (Akahane et al., 2012). The main electric power grid was disabled by the earthquake and seawater intrusion to the backup power supply caused power loss and the cooling systems of the four nuclear reactors were disrupted, leading to increased pressure levels and the production of hydrogen gas due to the extreme heating of the cooling water. During the following days, hydrogen explosions released large amounts of radioactivity into the atmosphere. Fearing more severe damage and larger releases, plant managers ordered seawater to be used as a cooling medium (IRSN, 2012). This highly radioactive water was discharged to the Pacific Ocean, with discharges (to both land and sea) ongoing more than three years following the accident (Kumamoto et al., 2015).

Subsequently, several studies were conducted to document global transport and deposition of the most important fallout radionuclides (e.g. Christoudias and Lelieveld, 2013; Evangeliou et al., 2013b; Kristiansen et al., 2012) and the potential impacts to human populations (e.g. Evangeliou et al., 2014a; Ten Hoeve and Jacobson, 2012; WHO, 2013) and to animals and plants (e.g. Aliyu et al., 2015a; Evrard et al., 2012; Garnier-Laplace et al., 2011; Hiyama et al., 2012; Møller et al., 2012; Møller and Mousseau, 2011b). Simultaneously, many research groups initiated experimental monitoring programs to assess potential consequences in Europe, Asia, USA and Japan (e.g. Evrard et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Kinoshita et al., 2011; Kritidis et al., 2012; Truong et al., 2012; MacMullin et al., 2012; Paatero et al., 2012; Pham et al., 2012; Povinec et al., 2012a).

Some of the major radioactive fission products released into the atmosphere and the ocean included ¹³¹I ($t_{1/2} = 8.02$ days), ¹³⁴Cs ($t_{1/2} = 2.06$ years), ¹³⁷Cs ($t_{1/2} = 30.07$ years) and ⁹⁰Sr ($t_{1/2} = 28.78$ years), which were then dispersed globally by the prevailing winds (Masson et al., 2011) resulting in the contamination of both terrestrial and marine ecosystems (Butler, 2011; Chino et al., 2011; NSCJ, 2011).

Many fundamental questions concerning the FDNPP accident still need to be resolved. For example, what was the exact amount of the released radioactivity? How is the environment being affected? What are the predicted consequences for human populations? The present paper aims to review the existing literature related to the FDNPP accident in order to address these questions. Furthermore, we hope to stimulate further discussion among the scientific and regulatory communities concerned with nuclear safety and radiation protection (e.g., CTBTO, IAEA, UNSCEAR, ICRP, etc.).

2. Methods of literature search

The discussion in this paper is based on keyword searches in Google Scholar, Scopus and Web of Science. The keywords 'source term', 'radioactive contamination', 'human health' and 'biota' were combined with the primary keyword 'Fukushima' during literature searches. The inclusion criteria for all publications were as follows: (i) they discuss the release of radionuclides from FDNPP to the air or sea; (ii) they highlight the impacts of the FDNPP accident on either human or non-human biota; (iii) they report the specific activities of fission products at Fukushima prefecture and some parts of Japan pre- and post- FDNPP accident. We conducted more than 200 literature searches to arrive at over 170 publications included in this review. A few articles which considered the radioecological impacts of the Chernobyl nuclear accident and fallout from atomic weapons tests were included for the purpose of comparisons with the manifested impacts of the FDNPP accident.

3. Source term assessment

Following the FDNPP accident, there was much public concern about the release of radioactivity into the atmosphere and ocean, and many independent groups attempted to estimate total release amounts. For the releases to the atmosphere, the Japanese government estimated the source terms for ¹³¹I and ¹³⁷Cs to be 160 PBq and 15 PBq, respectively (RJG, 2011). The Nuclear Safety Commission of Japan (NSCJ) estimated that the total amounts of ¹³¹J and ¹³⁷Cs released into the atmosphere were 150 PBq and 12 PBq, respectively (NSCJ, 2011). Masson et al. (2011) estimated that 153 PBq ¹³¹I and 13 PBg ¹³⁷Cs were released, whereas other researchers reported the total emission of ¹³⁷Cs to be as high as 13–35.8 PBg (Chino et al., 2011; Stohl et al., 2012). In order to estimate the source term of ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³¹I, Chino et al. (2011) adopted an estimation method using an atmospheric dispersion model. Their results (~13 PBq) were comparable to those of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan (MEXT, 2011) and have been validated by subsequent analyses (Katata et al., 2012; Terada et al., 2012). In a more recent study, Katata et al. (2015a) modified the computational methodology to address some of the limitations of previous studies (Katata et al., 2012; Terada et al., 2012). They considered a new scheme of wet, dry, and fog-water parameterization of both gaseous and particulate radionuclides in their simulation. Observations from both land in different parts of Japan and the Pacific Ocean were coupled to this new model, leading to estimated total release amounts of 151 PBq of ¹³¹I and 14.5 PBq of ¹³⁷Cs. The reported total release amount of ¹³¹I accords with the estimate of the Nuclear Safety Commission of Japan (NSCJ, 2011) and lies within the range for total release amount of 131 I by this review (150–160) PBg (Table 1). However, Chino et al. (2011) Terada et al. (2012) and Katata et al. (2015a) estimated the total release of ¹³⁷Cs (13–15 PBg), based on an inverse estimation of the source term by coupling Japanese environmental monitoring data with regional atmospheric dispersion simulations. In other words, they used data from Japanese stations only and a regional simulation domain and assumed constant radioactivity ratios for the different radionuclides based on iodine and cesium concentrations in rain, snow and vegetation. Chino et al. (2011) noted that estimates of release amounts using this methodology are associated with an uncertainty of at least a factor of five.

Other research groups and national laboratories have also estimated the total release amounts of ¹³¹I and ¹³⁷Cs from FDNPP, reporting releases that are higher than the Japanese estimates. For example, the French Institute of Radioprotection and Nuclear Safety (IRSN, 2012) reported releases of ¹³⁷Cs of 20.6 PBq–25% higher than those of Katata et al. (2015a). In addition, Stohl et al. (2012) used an inverse modeling technique employing data from the Comprehensive Nuclear Test-Ban Treaty Organization (CTBTO) measurement network to address emission inventories of ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³³Xe. They reported ¹³⁷Cs emissions of 36.7 PBq and ¹³³Xe 15.3 EBq (×10¹⁸ Bq) based on a larger number of observations. The estimates of Stohl et al. (2012) found 2.5 times higher emission rates compared to that of Chino et al. (2011); Terada et al. (2012) and Katata et al. (2015a). However, the authors state that their estimates are associated by an uncertainty of about 50%.

Table 1

Source term of anthropogenic radionuclides in the atmosphere and the ocean (PBq).

Radionuclide	Global fallout		Chernobyl		Fukushima	
	Atmosphere	Ocean	Atmosphere	Ocean	Atmosphere	Ocean
¹³¹ I ¹³² I	-	_	1760 ^b	_	150–160 ^c 35.8 ^d	_
¹³⁷ Cs ¹³³ Xe All noble gases	950 ^a	600 ^a	85 ^b	16 ^b	$\begin{array}{c} 12{-}20^{\rm e} \\ 37\pm18^{\rm f} \\ 15{,}300\pm7650^{\rm f} \\ 12{,}134^{\rm d} \end{array}$	4-27 ^h
⁹⁰ Sr ^{239,240} Pu	600 ^a 10.87 ^a	380 ^a 6.6 ^a	1 ^b 0.087 ^b	-	$\begin{array}{c} 0.010.14^{\rm g} \\ (12.4)\times10^{-6\rm g} \end{array}$	0.1–2.2 ^g

^a UNSCEAR (2000).

^b NEA (2002).

^c Masson et al. (2011), NSCJ (2011), RJG (2011).

^d IRSN (2012).

^e IRSN (2012), Masson et al. (2011), NSCJ (2011), RJG (2011).

^f Stohl et al. (2012).

^g Povinec et al. (2012a).

^h Bailly du Bois et al. (2012), Kawamura et al. (2011), Tsumune et al. (2012).

The Science Council of Japan (SCJ, 2014) compared various model estimates for the total amounts of radioactive materials released from Fukushima. They adopted the source term estimation of Stohl et al. (2012) as a prior emission in order to compare the discrepancy between field observations and computed concentrations. The SCI's approach documented the total release of ¹³⁷Cs between March 11 and 19 as 19.4 \pm 3.6 PBq. This value lies between the estimates of Terada et al. (2012) and Stohl et al. (2012), but they are closer to those of the IRSN (2012). However, the SCI noted some limitations in their analysis. For example, only one Eulerian aerosol model (MASINGAR), developed by Tanaka and Chiba (2005), was used and the bias of model transport could affect the source term estimate. In order to avoid such problems, various model simulations with common experimental settings are usually used and the source term estimates are compared. Another issue is the poor horizontal resolution of the global Eulerian aerosol model; this can be eliminated using a regional chemical transport model and collecting hourly observation data.

More recently, Saunier et al. (2013) used gamma dose rate observations to estimate the source term using inverse modeling. They employed a Eulerian model developed by the IRSN and calculated that 105.9 PBq of ¹³¹I, 35.8 PBq of ¹³²I, 15.5 PBq of ¹³⁷Cs and 12,134 PBq of noble gases were emitted. The details of the theoretical formulation of the IRSN model are available in the literature (e.g. Isnard, 2006). The authors compared their data with field observations of activity concentration and surface deposition, and showed that ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³¹I emissions are likely realistic, ¹³²I are probably underestimated, and noble gases are overestimated. Winiarek et al. (2014) also used inverse modeling to reconstruct FDNPP releases. Their technique can handle heterogeneous types of data in the same inversion. They estimated that the released ¹³⁷Cs ranged between 11.6 and 19.3 PBq, with an estimated standard deviation of 15–20%..

Finally, Chai et al. (2015) used an inverse emission estimation system based on a transfer coefficient matrix (TCM) created using the HYSPLIT Lagrangian dispersion model and a cost function that measures the differences between the model predictions and the actual air concentration measurements. The system was first tested with identical twin experiments, in which pseudo observations are generated with the same model used to estimate the transfer coefficients. With the pseudo observations generated at the same location and time as the actual ¹³⁷Cs observations to be assimilated later, the system is able to accurately recover the release rates and obtain better release estimates than the use of the singular value decomposition (SVD) method. This inverse estimation approach is found to be robust and not overly sensitive

to the first guess of the release. As for Fukushima, a penalty term is added in the cost function to create smooth temporal changes. While the temporal variations of the release rates at 6-h segments cannot be fully retrieved using 24 h observations, the features at larger time scales are well recovered. Given that only one first guess estimation was taken into account (Katata et al., 2015b), the results were close to those of Katata et al. (2014).

Fission products were also released directly into the cooling water of the FDNPP and were transported to the sea along the east coast of Japan. Accurate estimation of the fission products directly discharged into the sea and their respective amounts is the basis for any impact assessment on marine life. Therefore, since 2011, a number of groups have investigated the amounts of Fukushima-derived fission products that were directly discharged into the ocean (Buesseler, 2012; Buesseler et al., 2012; Charette et al., 2013; Kumamoto et al., 2015; Tsumune et al., 2012). The total amounts of ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁰Sr released into the Pacific Ocean along the East Coast of Japan were estimated to be 1 to ~42 PBg (1 PBg = 10^{15} Bg) (Bailly du Bois et al., 2012; Kawamura et al., 2011; Tsumune et al., 2012) and 0.1-2.2 PBg (Povinec et al., 2012a), respectively. Clearly, these estimates are associated with considerable uncertainty, which stems from the lack of available information from the FDNPP accident (Chino et al., 2011; Ohno and Muramatsu, 2014; Oza et al., 2013; Ten Hoeve and Jacobson, 2012). Using a regional oceanic modeling system, ROMS, developed by Shchepetkin and McWilliams (2005), Tsumune et al. (2012) estimated that the total ^{137}Cs directly released was 3.5 \pm 0.7 PBq from 26 March to the end of May, 2011. They noted that ¹³⁷Cs moved southwards along the coast during the simulation period; then the eastward-flowing Kuroshio current and its extension transported ¹³⁷Cs during May 2011, reducing ¹³⁷Cs concentrations to less than 10 Bq L^{-1} by the end of May 2011. Kawamura et al. (2011); Bailly du Bois et al. (2012) and Tsumune et al. (2012) showed that the discharged ¹³⁷Cs ranged between 1 and 42 PBq. Kawamura et al. (2011) used two models driven by data obtained using the WSPEEDI-II model. A limitation of this study was that it only considered deposited radionuclides from the aerosol, whereas releases via direct discharge of the cooling waters were not taken into account. Thus, it is likely that they underestimated the source term. The authors estimated the total amounts discharged into the ocean to be ~11 PBq for ¹³¹I and ~4 PBq for ¹³⁷Cs for the period from March 21 to April 30, 2011.

Table 1 shows the total amounts of major radionuclides released from the FDNPP accident; these amounts are compared to global fallout from Nuclear Weapons Testing and the Chernobyl accident. Although uncertainty associated with total releases from the FDNPP accident reaches 50% in certain cases, these data indicate that the Chernobyl accident resulted in the largest (estimated) release of radionuclides, whereas the Fukushima accident resulted in the largest direct release to the ocean. It is important to note that FDNPP accident is argued to have resulted in largest release of radionulcides into the ocean because the amount of radionuclides released by the Dnjepr River into the Black Sea has not been estimated. Kumamoto et al. (2015) reported that the mean value for water column inventories of the Fukushima-derived ¹³⁴Cs and the atomic-bomb-testing-derived ¹³⁷Cs were nearly similar (1020 \pm 80 and 820 \pm 120 Bq m⁻², respectively) suggesting that the FDNPP accident and nuclear bomb testing resulted in similar deposition amounts to the Pacific Ocean.

A significant fraction of the iodine released from the FDNPP accident remains as a gas (gaseous/total ratio: 77.2 \pm 13.6% 23); hence, it is difficult to accurately measure total iodine. For this reason, the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) has adopted the use of the "iodine equivalent" calculated from measured activities of ¹³⁴Cs and ¹³⁷Cs. Details of the methodology are presented in IAEA's International Nuclear Event Scale (INES, 2009). By using the IAEA/INES method, the Nuclear and Industrial Safety Agency (NISA) of Japan estimated the release of "iodine-131 equivalent" due to the FDNPP

accident to be 770 PBq (NERHJ, 2011), which is considerably higher than the 150 to 160 PBq reported in Table 1. There are still ongoing efforts to computationally ascertain the source term of FDNPP nuclear accident with a great degree of accuracy. However, current estimates suggest total release amounts of 12–36.7 PBq of ¹³⁷Cs and 150–160 PBq of ¹³¹I. These radioactive fission products have been transported to and deposited at locations around the globe. The two fundamental modes of transportation were the atmosphere and the sea.

4. Atmospheric transport and deposition of Fukushima derived radionuclides

Once the radioactive fallout was injected into the atmosphere, its trajectory was dispersed globally by the prevailing winds (Bolsunovsky and Dementyev, 2011; Huh et al., 2012; Leon et al., 2011; Manolopoulou et al., 2011; Pittauerová et al., 2011). Aerosol species were removed from the atmosphere by wet and dry processes, whereas noble gases were only lost due to radioactive decay. Evangeliou et al. (2013b) used the atmospheric transport model LMDZORINCA to simulate the global dispersion of radiocesium



Fig. 1. Total deposition of ^{137}Cs (kBq m⁻²) during the first 4 months after the FDNPP accident. The deposition is expressed in weekly intervals. The LMDZORINCA model was used in the resolution of $2.50^{\circ} \times 1.27^{\circ}$ over 19 sigma-p vertical layers. Source: Evangeliou et al. (2013b)].

Table 2

Fukushima-derived radionuclides detected in locations all over the world.

Location (reference)	Period (DD/MM/XX)	Maximum recorded activity concentrations in samples
National Institute of Padiological Sciences (NIPS) Chiba	(55/100/11) 15/02/2011 to 1 year later	Air $(P_{\rm cl} m^{-3})$, ¹³² To, 0.0 ¹³¹ J, 16.2 ¹³⁴ Co, 10.12 ¹³⁷ Co.
Japan (Ishikawa et al., 2014) Regional scale field work at haraki. Fukushima. Chiba	03/2011 to 05/2011	$10.27, \frac{129m}{12}$ Te: 4.0, $\frac{136}{12}$ Cs: 123 Surface ($Re m^{-2}$). $\frac{137}{12}$ Cs: 10.5
Tochigi, Saitama, and Tokyo Japan (Kinoshita et al., 2011)	03/2011 (0 03/2011	Surface (bq in). CS. 5 × 10
Gunsan and Busan, South Korea (Kim et al., 2012)	28/03/2011 to 31/05/2011	Surface (Bq m ⁻²): 137 Cs + 134 Cs: ~3 Air (Bq m ⁻³): 131 l: $^{3.12} \times 10^{-3}$, 134 Cs: $^{1.19} \times 10^{-3}$, 137 Cs: $^{.25} \times 10^{-3}$
Uljin and Ansan, South Korea (Hong et al., 2012) Waste Isolation Pilot Plant, Carlsbad, New Mexico, USA (Thakur et al., 2012)	07/4/2011 to 28/04/2011 17/03/2011 to 04/04/2011	Surface (Bq m ⁻²): ¹³⁷ Cs: 649, ¹³⁴ Cs: 802 Air (Bq m ⁻³): ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.38 × 10 ⁻³ , ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.45 × 10 ⁻³ , ¹³¹ I: 3.85 × 10 ⁻³
Krasnoyarsk (Russia) (Bolsunovsky and Dementyev, 2011)	04/04/2011 to 03/05/2011	Melted snow (Bq L ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 0.62, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.075, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.095
Southwest USA (Wetherbee et al., 2012)	08/03/2011 to 05/04/2011	Surface (Bq m ⁻²): ¹³⁷ Cs: 30–240, ¹³⁴ Cs: 2–46
Alaska, USA (Wetherbee et al., 2012)	08/03/2011 to 05/04/2011	Surface (Bq m ^{-2}): ¹³⁷ Cs: 16–27, ¹³⁴ Cs: ~55 Surface (Bq m ^{-2}): ¹³⁷ Cs: 1, 45, ¹³⁴ Cs: 1, 2
La Spezia Italy (Barsanti et al. 2012)	28/03/2011 to 12/04/2011	Surface (Bq III): CS: 1–45, CS: 1–3 Surface (Bq m^{-2}): 137 Cs + 134 Cs: ~0.3
Athens, Greece (Kritidis et al., 2012)	2011	Surface (Bq m^{-2}): ¹³⁷ Cs: ~10
Thessaloniki, Greece (Bolsunovsky and Dementyev, 2011; Manolopoulou et al., 2011)	24/03/2011 to 09/04/2011	Air (Bq m $^{-3}$): 131 I: 497 \times 10 $^{-6}$, 137 Cs: 145 \times 10 $^{-6}$, 134 Cs: 126 \times 10 $^{-6}$
Nuclear Science Research Institute, Ibaraki, Japan (Saegusa	01/03/2011 to 01/04/2011	Rain water (Bq L ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 0.7 Evaporated water (Bq m ⁻²): ¹³⁷ Cs: 1.4×10^4
et al., 2013) Hei Longijang, Ji Lin, Oin Huangdao, Tian Jin and Reijing	02/04/2011 to 13/04/2011	Rain water (Bq L ⁻¹): ¹³⁷ Cs: 41 Air (Bq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 1720 \times 10 ⁻⁶ ¹³⁴ Cs: 247 \times 10 ⁻⁶ ¹³⁷ Cs:
area, China (Tuo et al., 2013)	02/04/2011 to 13/04/2011	289×10^{-6} , 136 Cs; 23×10^{-6} (Tuo et al., 2013)
		Rain water and vegetation (Bq kg ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 2.68
University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy (Clemenza et al., 2012)	12/03/2011 to 05/04/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: ~4.2 × 10 ⁻⁴ , ¹³⁷ Cs: ~9.4 × 10 ⁻⁵ , ¹³⁴ Cs: 8 × 10 ⁻⁵
Ten air sampling sites, Czech Republic (Rulík et al., 2014)	22/03/2011 to 17/05/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): 131 I: 5.6×10^{-3} , 137 Cs: 0.72×10^{-3} , 134 Cs: 0.64×10^{-3}
Vilnius, Lithuania (Lujanienė et al., 2013; Lujanienė et al., 2012a)	23/03/2011 to 15/04/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): 131 I: 3700×10^{-6} , 137 Cs: 1040×10^{-6}
Pic du Midi observatory, France (Evrard et al., 2012)	22/03/2011 to 10/04/2011	Surface (Bq m ⁻²): ¹³⁴ Cs: ~2 Air (Bq m ⁻³): ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.2×10^{-3} , ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.7×10^{-3}
Centre d'Etudes Nucléaires de Bordeaux Gradignan, Université de Bordeaux, France (Perrot et al., 2012)	26/03/2011 to 14/05/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): 13 I: 2.4 × 10 ⁻³ , Rain water (Bg L ⁻¹): 3.5
Comenius University Mlynská Dolina, Bratislava, Slovakia (Povinec et al., 2012b)	19/03/2011 to 25/05/2011	Surface $(Bq m^{-2})$: ¹³⁷ Cs: 2–114, ¹³⁴ Cs: <100 Air $(Bq m^{-3})$: ¹³¹ I: 0.5 × 10 ⁻³ , ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.07 × 10 ⁻³ , ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.0197 × 10 ⁻³
Spanish environmental radiological monitoring network in Barcelona, Caceres and Seville, Spain (Baeza et al., 2012)	16/03/2011 to 17/04/2011	Rain water (mbq L $^{-1}$): 1130, 137Cs: 12, 137Cs: 90 Air (Bq m ⁻³): 1311: 3080 × 10 ⁻⁶ , 137Cs: 690 × 10 ⁻⁶ , 134Cs: 620 × 10 ⁻⁶ , 132Te: 330 × 10 ⁻³
Stations in Novi Sad, Rimski Sancevi, Kisac, Melenci, Krcedin, Subotica, Kumane, Zrenjanin, Bikovo, Nadalj, Serbia (Bikit et al. 2012)	16/03/2011 to 20/04/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): 131 I: 2.7 × 10 ⁻³ , 137 Cs: 0.21 × 10 ⁻³ Rain water (Bq L ⁻¹): 1.8
Hanoi, Dalat, and Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam (Truong et al., 2012)	27/03/2011 to 22/04/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): 131 l: 193 × 10 ⁻⁶ , 134 Cs: 33 × 10 ⁻⁶ , 137 Cs: 37 × 10 ⁻⁶
Lancaster; Spark Bridge; Stirling, etc. (United Kingdom) (Beresford et al., 2012)	01/04/2011 to 13/04/2011	Grass (Bq kg ⁻¹): dry matter for 131 I: 55, dry matter for 137 Cs: 8
Cluj, Bihor, Bistrița-Nŭsaŭd, Maramureș, and Arad, NW Romania (Cosma et al., 2012)	28/03/2011 to 11/04/2011	Rain water (Bq L ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 1.69, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.042, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.067
Mt. Zeppelin global atmosphere watch station, NyÅlesund, Svalbard, Norway (Paatero et al., 2012)	12/03/2011 to 02/05/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): 131 I: $810\times 10^{-6}, ^{134}$ Cs: $659\times 10^{-6}, ^{137}$ Cs: 675×10^{-6}
Sacavém, Lisbon, Portugal (Carvalho et al., 2012)	17/03/2011 to 20/04/2011	Surface (Bq m ⁻²): $^{137}Cs + ^{134}Cs: \sim 1$ Air (Bq m ⁻³): $^{131}I: 1.47 \times 10^{-3}, ^{137}Cs: 134 \times 10^{-3}$ Soil (Bg m ⁻²): $^{131}I: 1.03, ^{134}Cs: 0.65, ^{137}Cs: 0.74$
Vancouver Island, Canada (Sinclair et al., 2011) Countrywide, Finland (Leppänen et al., 2013)	20/03/2011 to 28/04/2011 19/03/2011 to 28/04/2011	Air (Bq m ⁻³): ¹³³ Xe: 30–70 Air (mBq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 10.6, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.39, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.41, ¹³⁶ Cs: 28, ¹²⁹ Te: 129, ^{129m} Te: 234, ¹³² Te: 51 Higher concentrations were observed in Southern Finland
Huelva Iberian Peninsula, Spain (Lozano et al., 2011) Çnaem, Istanbul, Turkey (Güngör et al., 2014)	28/03/2011 to 07/04/2011 07/03/2011 to 12/09/2011	than in the North Air (mBq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 3.69, ¹³² I: 0.162, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.88, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.95 Air (mBq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 1.03, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.25, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.23 Rain water (mBq m ⁻³): ¹³⁴ Cs: 4.1 ¹³⁷ Cs: 4.7
Mount Lulin, Taiwan (Huh et al., 2012) Vienna Austria, Austria (Steinhauser et al., 2013a)	20/03/2011 to 29/04/2011 24/03/2011 to 13/04/2011	Air (mBq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 0.06, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.028, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.030 Air (Bq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 1.2×10^{-3} Bain water (Ba I ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 5.2
Budapest, Hungary (Homoki et al., 2013) Monaco (Pham et al., 2012)	08/03/2011 to 22/05/2011 23/03/2011 to 07/05/2011	Air (μ Bq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 96, ¹³⁷ Cs: 10 ² , ¹³⁴ Cs: 10 ² Surface (Bq m ⁻²): ¹³⁷ Cs + ¹³⁴ Cs: 1-2 Air (μ Bq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 354, ¹³⁴ Cs: 30, ¹³⁷ Cs: 37 Deposition rate (mBq m ⁻² d ⁻¹): ¹³⁴ Cs: 13.7, ¹³⁷ Cs: 19.1

(continued on next page)

Table 2 (continued)

Location (reference)	Period (DD/MM/YY)	Maximum recorded activity concentrations in samples
Bremen, Seefeld and Schifford, Germany (Pittauerová et al., 2011)	12/03/2011 to 14/05/2011	River sediment (Bq kg ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 0.113, ¹³⁷ Cs: 2.67, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.08 Soil (Bq kg ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 0.68, ¹³⁷ Cs: 3.00, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.069 Rain water (Bq kg ⁻¹): ¹³¹ I: 0.31, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.02, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.02
Darwin, Townsville, Melbourne, Perth and Cacos Island, Australia (Carpenter and Tinker, 2012)	01/40/2011 to 30/04/2011	Air (Bq m ^{-3}): ¹³³ Xe: 12 × 10 ^{-3} No Fukushima-derived radio iodine and cesium was detected in Australia, ¹³³ Xe was only detected in Darwin
Institute of Nuclear Physics Krakow, Poland (Mierelski et al., 2014)	21/03/2011 to 30/10/2011	Air (mBq m ⁻³): ¹³¹ I: 5.73, ¹³⁴ Cs: 0.461, ¹³⁷ Cs: 0.436

during the first four months after the accident. A weekly intervals of the total deposition of ¹³⁷Cs is presented in Fig. 1.

Global scale simulations by Christoudias and Lelieveld (2013) and Evangeliou et al. (2014b) showed that the plume generated by the FDNPP was initially affected by northerly and easterly winds, which gradually reached the USA via the North Pacific and Alaska.

Table 2 summarizes observations of Fukushima-derived fission products all over the world, including air concentrations (in Bq m⁻³), surface deposition densities (in kBq m⁻²) and concentration in both fresh and marine water (in Bq L⁻¹). The data in Table 2 can be used for worldwide health assessments based on field observations.

Based on observations from the CTBTO network (Christoudias and Lelieveld, 2013), fallout from FDNPP reached Eastern Siberia after four days, Alaska and the West Coast of the USA after 8-10 days (Thakur et al., 2012), the east coast after 11-12 days, the North Atlantic (i.e., Iceland) after about 13 days, Europe after 14-17 days, and Asia after 18-20 days. This is much longer than the ~10-day period it took for the Chernobyl fallout to spread across the globe (Harrison et al., 1993). This is mainly because in Chernobyl there was a tremendous explosion and nuclear fire, which injected radionuclides directly into the troposphere (Evangeliou et al., 2013a) resulting in faster transport, whereas in Fukushima the releases occurred inside the planetary boundary layer (PBL). The radioactive plume from Fukushima was transported over the Pacific Ocean; over the ocean, variation in the boundary layer is low and this may have resulted in the prolonged time for travel of the Fukushima radioactive cloud around the world. The variability in surface temperatures over the ocean are small compared to those over land, and this results in mixing of larger air masses and hence longer transport times for aerosols that are transported over ocean (Aliyu, 2014; Jilani, 2009; Sorbjan, 1989). In other words, the turbulence over the ocean is relatively low compared to terrestrial ground surfaces where the presence of trees, mountains and other rough surfaces increases the exchange of mass and momentum between the ground surface and the atmosphere (Jilani, 2009; Marshall and Plumb, 1965).

Observations in Table 2 are very close to those of the CTBTO and agree with the estimation that the plume arrived in Europe more than 10 days after the FDNPP accident. Outside Japan, fission products were detected in Korea, Vietnam, Taiwan, USA, Canada, and Europe (CTBTO, 2011; Huh et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Leon et al., 2011; Masson et al., 2011) (Table 2). In Europe, the first traces of the radioactive fallout were detected on 19 March 2011 (slightly more than one week after the accident), while the first peak of activity level was observed between 28 and 30 March. Measurements suggest that airborne activity levels are currently of minimal concern for public health in Europe (Masson et al., 2011). The activity concentrations of radionuclides in the plume decreased exponentially with downwind distance (Hsu et al., 2012) due to dry and wet scavenging and subsequent deposition along the path of dispersion (Aliyu et al., 2015b).

In Japan, air concentrations of ¹³⁴Cs and ¹³⁷Cs in the city of Fukushima were still elevated (613 μ Bq m⁻³ and 829 μ Bq m⁻³, respectively) 7 months after the accident (Toyoshima et al., 2011). Intensive monitoring was conducted on smaller Japanese Islands, which included

45 measuring stations (Hirose, 2012). These measurements suggested that the FDNPP accident affected areas in the central and eastern parts of Honshu Island, although fission products were deposited all over Japan. Hirose (2012) also used daily deposition of radionuclides in rain water measured by Prefectural Governments in Japan to estimate the atmospheric resident time of Fukushima-derived ¹³⁷Cs within 300 km from the FDNPP site: ~10 days.

Earlier studies (e.g. Buck, 2011; Ten Hoeve and Jacobson, 2012; Thakur et al., 2012) showed that radionuclides were transported by winds over the Pacific Ocean towards the West Coast of the USA. Fig. 2 depicts the atmospheric dispersion pattern of the fission products at different heights of the PBL during the first 10 days of the FDNPP, using single-particle trajectories employed by the HYSPLIT model (Draxler, 2004; Draxler and Hess, 1997). The start time of release of particles from the FDNPP was 12 March 2011. The lower trajectories [100 and 500 m above ground level (AGL)] circulated along the East Coast of Japan towards the northern part of the country. The particles at higher altitudes (1 and 1.5 km AGL) were transported across the Pacific Ocean to the West Coast of North America. Thakur et al. (2012) showed that 19% of the total fallout was deposited on Japan and only 2% reached other land areas of Asia and North America, while the remainder was deposited over the Pacific Ocean and the Arctic. In a recent study, Evangeliou et al. (2015) estimated that about 23% of the released ¹³⁷Cs was deposited over Japan and 76% of the radiocesium was deposited over the North Pacific and North Atlantic oceans. From the remainder, 163 TBg was deposited in North America, mostly in the USA (95 TBg), Canada (40 TBg) and Greenland (5 TBg), about 14 TBg in Europe (mostly in European Russia, Sweden and Norway), 47 TBq in Asia (mostly in Asian Russia, Philippines and South Korea), and traces deposited over Africa, Oceania and Antarctica. Considering that the plume followed a northward direction before it arrived in the USA and then in Europe, about 69 TBg was deposited over the Arctic (see Fig. 2).

Deposition of the Fukushima-derived radionuclides over land are directly linked to their atmospheric release. Surface deposition levels are associated with the risk of internal radiation exposure via inhalation, whereas aerosol species are important when considering ingestion pathways. Soil around the FDNPP and neighboring prefectures was contaminated with ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³⁴Cs at levels of more than 10⁵ and 10^4 Bq m⁻², respectively (Burns et al., 2012; Yasunari et al., 2011), and other rare refractory elements might also have been important. Kinoshita et al. (2011) reported that the surface deposition of ¹³⁷Cs in central and eastern Japan ranged from 0.4 to 900 kBq m⁻², which is 0.06–130 times the cumulative deposition $(100-1000 \text{ Bq m}^{-2})$ from atmospheric nuclear bomb testing (Kinoshita et al., 2011). It is estimated that a total of more than 5.6 PBq of ¹³⁷Cs was deposited over Japan (Yasunari et al., 2011). For example, soil concentrations of ¹³⁴Cs and ¹³⁷Cs in the litate Village area located 25 km northwest of the FDNPP were 62.4 and ~73 kBq kg⁻¹, respectively, and the topsoil concentrations of ¹³¹I and ¹³⁷Cs 23 km south of the Fukushima Reactor Unit 1 were reported to be 140 kBq m^{-2} and 80 kBq m^{-2} , respectively (Garnier-Laplace et al., 2011).

Radiation dose measurements can be used to extrapolate the level of surface contamination due to the FDNPP accident in Japan. For instance,



Fig. 2. Calculated trajectories for air masses released at the site of the Fukushima Daiichi reactor (Aliyu et al., 2015a).

the environmental external radiation dose rate before the nuclear accident in the Fukushima region was approximately 0.05 μ Sv h⁻¹ (Kinoshita et al., 2011). The external radiation dose rates in prefectural areas due to the FDNPP accident have been estimated to be 1.14 μ Sv h⁻¹ in Naka-Dori, 4.57 μ Sv h⁻¹ in litate, 0.02 μ Sv h⁻¹ in a region between northern Ibaraki and eastern Saitama, and 0.23 μ Sv h⁻¹ in southern Ibaraki and northern Chiba prefectures (Kinoshita et al., 2011). Møller et al. (in pressb) reported that dose rates at 400 locations around the Fukushima region varied from 0.5 to 38 μ Sv h⁻¹. This indicates that large areas in eastern and northern Japan were strongly contaminated by ¹³⁷Cs, whereas western regions were largely shielded by mountainous topography. However, similar to Chernobyl, deposition was highly heterogeneous even within the most contaminated areas (Møller et al., in pressb), in pressc).

The data presented in Table 2 can also be used to predict the dose and risk in Europe, North America and Asia using empirical environmental data rather than estimates based on mathematical models that may result in over- or underestimation of the impacts of the accident. The question of how fission products from FDNPP accident were transported and deposited in locations within and outside Japan will continue to be of interest as it is the basis for any radioecological impacts assessment involving Fukushima-derived long-lived radionuclides which could, even at trace quantities, bioaccumulate in plant and animal tissues, thereby increasing the risk of radiation induced effects in the exposed populations.

5. Impacts of the FDNPP accident on humans

Given that the potential health effects of the FDNPP accident will likely be of great social and economic importance for decades to come, modeling of predicted doses can be a useful tool for a preliminary assessment of the health risks. Table 3 illustrates the predicted health effects of the FDNPP accident on local and global populations. In all cases, a Linear Non Threshold (LNT) model of human exposure was used to calculate potential radiological health effects. This model assumes that the disintegration of each radionuclide has the same probability of causing cell transformation, and that each transformed cell has the same probability of developing a cancer tumor. Although the LNT model has been employed extensively in radiation safety (NRC, 2006; UNSCEAR, 2010), several arguments concerning its validity and response at low doses still remain unresolved (Cuttler, 2010; Tubiana et al., 2009). Traditional epidemiological studies have only considered doses above 100 mSv as causing statistically significant increases in stochastic cancer risk, although there are a growing number of studies suggesting possible effects at doses well below 100 mSv (e.g. Brenner and Sachs, 2006; Brenner et al., 2003; Eidemüller et al., 2010; Mathews et al. 2013). On the other hand, proponents of the LNT model claim that the difficulty in detecting and attributing a small number of cancers to low doses does not indicate that there is an absence of risk (Hoffman et al., 2011). Note that the NRC (Nuclear Regulatory Commission) and the WHO (World Health Organization) accept the LNT hypothesis for such assessments.

Ten Hoeve and Jacobson (2012) estimated that there would be an additional 130 (15–1100) and 180 (24–1800) lifetime cancer related mortalities and morbidities related to the Fukushima radiological disaster, respectively, with over 90% of the projected impact occurring in Japan. However, Beyea et al. (2013) argued that the failure by Ten Hoeve and Jacobson (2012) to consider the long-term dose estimate from radiocesium in their studies may lead to an underestimation of the global effects of the accident. By including a more realistic

220

Table 3 Cancer related morbidities (cases) and mortalities (deaths) due to the FDNPP accident. The table shows number of individuals that are expected to suffer from all solid cancers.

Reference	Morbidities (incidents)	Mortalities (deaths)	Collective dose in Japan man-Sv
IRSN (2012)	70-250	-	-
UNSCEAR (2013)	-	5000	48,000
IPPNW (2013)	-	10,000	95,000
Von Hippel (2011)	-	750-1500	-
Ten Hoeve and Jacobson (2012)	24-1800	15-1100	-
Evangeliou et al. (2014b)	160-880	730-1260	-

population perspective, Beyea et al. (2013) suggested that the estimate for the number of future cancer mortalities due to the FDNPP accident is probably closer to 1000 than 125. Other health estimates for Fukushima-related cancers were made by Von Hippel (2011) who estimated the cancer mortalities to be 770–890 and the highest external doses outside the 20-km evacuation area to be between 20 and 40 mSv.

Evangeliou et al. (2014a) estimated that the highest doses would rise to between 50 and 100 mSv. Using the LNT model, in the northernmost area of the FDNPP (with about 300,000 inhabitants) they estimated the lifetime mortality risks to be 750–1500 individuals. The IRSN (2012) estimated that a population of 21,100 received more than 16 mSv; a population of 3100 received more than 50 mSv, and another group of 2200 individuals received 100–500 mSv near Fukushima. Assuming the LNT hypothesis, an exposure of 100 mSv will increase lifetime cancer risk by 1% (Cuttler, 2010), giving rise to 70–250 excess cancers depending on the precise amount of radiation received by each grouping.

On the other hand, several studies have reported much higher values for projected cancer mortalities in Japan. For example, the most detailed model, used in a report published by IPPNW (2013) in late March 2013, estimated a collective effective dose of 95,000 mSv, whereas UNSCEAR (2013) estimated 48,000 mSv. In terms of fatal cancers (mortalities), the UNSCEAR estimates imply (via the LNT theory) that ~5000 people in Japan will die in the future from Fukushima-related cancers. This figure is obtained by applying a fatal cancer risk of 10% per Sv; the UNSCEAR report, like the previous WHO reports, no longer applies a DREFF (dose and dose-rate effectiveness factor) of 2 to risk estimates. However, the methodologies and assumptions used in the new UNSCEAR report will require scrutiny before a final conclusion can be drawn. It is noteworthy that the UNSCEAR report adds that "The collective effective dose to the population of Japan due to a lifetime exposure following the FDNPS accident is approximately 10-15% of the corresponding value for European populations exposed to radiation following the Chernobyl accident. Correspondingly, the collective absorbed dose to the thyroid was approximately 5% of that due to the Chernobyl accident."

In a recent study, Evangeliou et al. (2014b) considered numerous fission products (¹³¹I, ¹³⁴Cs, ¹³⁶Cs, ¹³⁷Cs, ^{129m}Te, ¹³²Te, ⁹⁵Nb, ⁹⁰Sr, ^{110m}Ag, ⁹⁹Mo, ²⁴¹Am, ²³⁸Pu, ^{239–240}Pu, ²⁴¹Pu, ²⁴²Cm and ^{243–244}Cm) in their assessment. The authors also took into account several arguments reported after the Ten Hoeve and Jacobson (2012) estimates were issued, pointing out shielding effects and the exponential decrease of the deposition densities of the studied radionuclides as a result of vertical migration in soil. For a discussion of vertical migration of deposited radionuclides from fallouts see, for example, Almgren and Isaksson (2006); Nakanishi et al. (2014), and Takahashi et al. (2015). Evangeliou et al. (2014b) estimated that solid cancer incidences and mortalities from Fukushima would be 160 to 880 and 110 to 640, respectively, which are close to previous estimations. By adding thyroid cancers, the total estimate rises from 230 to 850 for incidents and from 120 to 650 for mortalities (see Figs. 3 and 4).

Estimated fatalities due to workers' exposure and mandatory evacuation have been reported to be around 610, increasing total estimated mortalities to 730–1260 (Evangeliou et al., 2014b). These estimates are 2.8 times higher than those previously reported for radiocesium and ¹³¹I, and 16% higher than those reported based on radiocesium only.

Prefectural Governments in Japan have adopted the use of highly sensitive ultrasound systems to scan for radiation-induced thyroid cancer due to the Fukushima accident (Tronko et al., 2014). Tronko et al. (2014) reported that, by the first quarter of 2014, about 80% of the target population (36,000 of the residents aged up to 18 years) were examined. Out of the examined population, 75 cases of suspected malignancy were identified. Thirty-four patients have received surgery; pathological diagnoses include one benign tumor, one suspected to be poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma, and 32 papillary thyroid carcinomas. This is arguably an alarming case of prevalence considering the examination period of less than 3 years following exposure. However, the study was inadequately controlled and failed to effectively assess thyroid cancers in preschool children in the broader unexposed population, a point that was used by Tronko et al. (2014) to argue that the high prevalence was not due to the FDNPP nuclear accident. Arguably, the highly sensitive equipment that is in use in Fukushima might have resulted in this high prevalence of thyroid anomalies that would not normally have been detected. However, Tronko et al. emphasized that additional analysis will need to address thyroid cancer cases that may appear in the coming years, once the period of latency has passed. They noted that attention should be paid to thyroid dose reconstruction, age at exposure and diagnosis, and whether there will be a "harvesting effect," which is a spike in cases after introduction of intensive screening programs.

Tokonami et al. (2012) and Hosoda et al. (2013) attempted to measure and estimate the thyroid doses in evacuees from the Fukushima nuclear accident site, respectively. Tokonami et al. (2012) conducted screening tests of 62 residents and evacuees using a portable Na(TI) spectrometer to measure ¹³¹I activity in the thyroid. These measurements were conducted a month after the FDNPP accident (12 to 16 April 2011). The age of examinees ranged from <1 to 80 years; 17 of them were from Tsushima District of Namie Town, a region which is severely contaminated with radioactive materials released from the crippled FDNPP. Forty-five of the examinees were evacuees from coastal areas, including Minami-soma City located to the north of FDNPP. The median (and maximum) thyroid equivalent doses were estimated as 4.2 (23) mSv and 3.5 (33) mSv for children and adults, respectively, which are much smaller than the mean thyroid dose in the Chernobyl accident (490 mSv in evacuees). Hosoda et al. (2013) used the measurement data for ¹³¹I from the earlier study by Tokonami et al. (2012) to estimate the external exposure of thyroid to ¹³¹I based on the accumulated ¹³⁴Cs among evacuees. The maximum values of ¹³¹I/¹³⁴Cs activity ratio corresponding to thyroid uptake factors of 0.3, 0.1 and 0.03 were evaluated to be 0.9, 2.6 and 8.7, respectively. The maximum value of the ¹³¹I/¹³⁴Cs activity ratio was used to obtain the most conservative thyroid equivalent dose estimation. The maximum internal exposure of the thyroid to ¹³¹I on the basis of cumulative ¹³⁴Cs measured by the whole-body counter was estimated to be 18 mSv. This value is higher than the maximum thyroid doses for children and adults reported in the earlier study.

Computer models are currently used to predict the human deaths and health effects of the FDNPP nuclear accident based on the LNT hypothesis. More field research is needed in order to investigate the effects of the nuclear accident in exposed human populations. This project should involve continuous monitoring of the exposed population as radiation effects on humans may take longer before they are expressed especially for cancers which can have latency periods of decades. The study of non-human biota, which often have much shorter lifespans (compared to humans), provides opportunities to investigate the biological consequences of radiological contaminants on a short timespan and this approach has been fruitful for study of the consequences of both the Fukushima and Chernobyl disasters.



Fig. 3. Excess lifetime morbidity (incidence) and mortality (death) risk of all solid cancers from the uptake of ¹³⁴Cs, ¹³⁶Cs, ¹³⁷Cs ¹³³Xe, ^{129m}Te, ¹³²Te, ⁹⁵Nb, ⁹⁰Sr, ^{110m}Ag, ⁹⁹Mo, ²⁴¹Am, ²³⁸Pu, ^{239–240}Pu, ²⁴¹Pu, ²⁴²Cm and ^{243–244}Cm in Japan from all internal and external exposure pathways using the Linear Non Threshold models for a lifetime of 89 years. The calculations were performed using the LMDZORINCA model for a spatial resolution of 0.45°–0.51°. Source: Evangeliou et al. (2014b).

6. Impacts of FDNPP accident on marine ecosystems

Contamination of the marine environment following the FDNPP accident represents the most important anthropogenic radioactive release into the sea ever recorded, on par with fallout from atomic bomb testing. The radioactive marine pollution came from atmospheric fallout onto the ocean and direct release of contaminated water from the plant.

In the immediate vicinity of the plant, Cs levels of the ocean surface at the point of discharge showed up to 10^3 times higher activities than had been reported by Aoyama and Hirose (2004) before the Fukushima accident (Aoyama and Hirose, 2004), with a peak of 68 Bq m⁻³ on 6 April 6, 2011 (Buesseler et al., 2011). Dilution of the contaminants occurs rapidly due to ocean mixing, particularly in the energetic coastal waters off Japan where the Oyashio waters move south and interact with the rapidly flowing and offshore meandering of the Kuroshio Current. These currents, tidal forces and eddies mix the waters rapidly offshore. As a consequence, one month after the accident the ¹³⁷Cs level decreased by a factor of 10^3 . Honda et al. (2012) reported that the ¹³⁷Cs activity in surface seawater ranged from 0.004 to 0.284 Bq kg⁻¹ in the western North Pacific from 14 April to 5 May. Tsumune et al. (2012) argued that if no additional releases occur in the future, the effect of the ¹³⁷Cs may be smaller than that of global fallout in the North Pacific. The timescale of transport to other basins is several decades. Thus, the effect of the ¹³⁷Cs release on other oceanic basins might be negligible. With respect to dose effects on humans, Buesseler et al. (2011) calculated that the dose due to direct exposure during human indirect contact with the water was 0.1 μ Sv day⁻¹ when the ¹³⁷Cs level approaches 10² kBq m⁻³, which is lower than the average dose from all sources to the Japanese population of about 0.17 μ Sv day⁻¹.

Cesium-137 concentrations in suspended solids (SS) from surface and subsurface waters off the western North Pacific have been measured by Honda et al. (2012); it ranged from 5.92 to 32.42 Bq kg⁻¹ on a dry weight basis (kg-dw⁻¹). A similar pattern was observed for ¹³⁴Cs. Thus, it is likely that SS were contaminated with radionuclides from the FDNPP (Honda et al., 2012). The SS-seawater distribution



Morbidity and mortality risk of thyroid cancer

Fig. 4. Excess lifetime morbidity (incidence) and mortality (death) risk of thyroid cancer from the uptake of ¹³¹I from all internal and external exposure pathways using the Linear Non Threshold model for a lifetime of 89 years. The calculations are performed using the LMDZORINCA model for a spatial resolution of 0.45°–0.51°. Source: Evangeliou et al. (2014b).

coefficient (K_ds: Bq kg-dw⁻¹ for SS/Bq kg⁻¹ for seawater) was further estimated to be 200–4400, with an average of 2100. This average K_ds is comparable to the suggested K_ds for the open ocean: 2000 (IAEA, 2004).

In terms of potential biological impacts, radiation doses in marine organisms are generally dominated by the naturally occurring radionuclides ²¹⁰Po (an alpha emitter) and ⁴⁰K, even when organisms are exposed to anthropogenic radioactivity discharged to coastal waters (Aarkrog et al., 1996). Fukushima-derived radiocesium was detected in zooplankton and mesopelagic fish (Buesseler et al., 2012), with the ¹³⁷Cs concentration in zooplankton off the western North Pacific coast at 13.46–71.46 Bq kg-dw⁻¹, which is significantly higher than that of the southern Baltic Sea and the northern Adriatic Sea one month after the Chernobyl accident: 0.4–5 Bq kg-ww⁻¹ (Knapinska-Skiba et al., 2003; Marzano and Triulzi, 1994). In contrast, the ¹³⁷Cs concentration in zooplankton around Japan was less than 0.1 Bq kg-ww⁻¹ during the past decade (Kaeriyama et al., 2008; Kasamatsu and Ishikawa, 1997). Thus, the observed concentrations were two orders of magnitude higher than before the accident. Meanwhile, the concentration factor [CF: i.e. the ratio of the Cs concentration of zooplankton to that of ambient seawater (Bq kg-ww-1/Bq kg⁻¹)] was calculated to be 200-840, which is an order of magnitude higher than the 10–100 of previous observations (IAEA, 2004; Kaeriyama et al., 2008; Kasamatsu and Ishikawa, 1997).

Buesseler et al. (2012) suggested that radiation risks of ¹³⁷Cs derived from the FDNPP to marine organisms and human consumers of seafood were well below those from natural radionuclides. At the same time, the total cesium levels in demersal (bottom-dwelling) fish off Fukushima was investigated (Buesseler, 2012), where the cesium levels in 40% of fish were above the new regulatory limit (100 Bq kg⁻¹ wet) set by the Japan Ministry of Agriculture (JMA, 2011). However, this is lower than the new regulatory limit of cesium in fish products in four prefectures (Iwate, Miyagi, Ibaraki and Chiba).

The effect of the FDNNP accident on marine products in Fukushima was also assessed by Wada et al. (2013). The authors concluded that the total activity concentrations of radiocesium in marine products have decreased significantly. However, the authors noted that higher activity concentrations have been observed in shallower waters south of the FDNPP, and long-term monitoring of marine products from around the FDNPP is needed before restarting coastal fisheries (Wada et al., 2013). Chen (2013) reported the radioactivity level in fish products from other prefectures adjacent to Fukushima, based on monitoring data of July 2013. Activity concentrations of ¹³⁴Cs, and ¹³⁷Cs varied from 0.1 to 338 Bq kg⁻¹ (average: 11 Bq kg⁻¹) and from 0.1 to 699 Bq kg⁻¹ (average: 18 Bq kg⁻¹), respectively. Three years later, the dose rate to the most affected fish species near the FDNPP have remained above baseline levels; a theoretical human consumer of 50 kg of fish caught a short distance (3 km) from the FDNPP in 2013 would have received a total committed effective dose of approximately 0.95 mSv year⁻¹, with FDNPP contributing ~14% of total committed effective dose (Johansen et al., 2014).

Numerous studies have assessed the impacts of the Fukushima accidents on the marine and terrestrial environments in both Japan and other countries (Aliyu et al., 2015a; Buck, 2011; Chen et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2012; Periáñez et al., 2013; Sin et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2013). For instance, Aliyu and co-authors concluded that, with-in Japanese Coastal areas, the accident did heavier damage to marine bionts compared to terrestrial flora and fauna. Even though many of the studies outside Japan have demonstrated that the levels of radiocesium in seafood were not likely to have discernible health effects (Chen et al., 2014), investigations of the marine environment have continued in order to address public concern about the impact of the accident.

Buck (2011) reported that the radiation in the ocean will be diluted along the Japanese coast; however, exposed marine organisms and contaminated tsunami debris would likely reach the USA. Time-series measurements of ¹³⁴Cs and ¹³⁷Cs in seawater showed that the first arrival of the Fukushima derived radio-cesium in a location 1500 km west of British Columbia, Canada was in June 2012, which is 1.3 years after the accident (Smith et al., 2015). Wu et al. (2013) showed that the activity concentration of ¹³⁷Cs in the China Sea ranged from 0.75 \pm 0.07 to 1.43 \pm 0.08 Bq m⁻³, which is below the regulatory standard in China. More recent reports have suggested that Fukushima-derived cesium arrived off the coast of British Columbia, Canada in February 2015, and off the coast of Del Mar., CA, USA, in April 2015 (KO Buesseler, 2015 pers. comm., 3 September).

Strontium-90 is of significant health and environmental concern given that it is a calcium analog and, thus, may bioaccumulate in the bones and teeth of many organisms. The activity concentrations of ⁹⁰Sr have been measured in selected "hotspots" around Japan (Steinhauser et al., 2013b). The authors reported that the ⁹⁰Sr activity concentration in soil and vegetation samples from the hot spots was lower than the Japanese regulatory limit. The activity concentrations of ⁹⁰Sr were less than 10% of ¹³⁷Cs. The contamination of the marine ecosystem by fission products from FDNPP had raised questions about the safety of consuming seafood from the regions of Japan. Continuous monitoring programs were initiated by the Japanese authorities to ensure that the levels of radioactivity in the Prefectural waters remained low. This can only be achieved by ensuring that no further release of contaminated cooling water from the destroyed nuclear facility occurs. Although few studies have explicitly examined the biological consequences of radio-strontium in natural systems, perhaps in part because of the technical challenges and financial costs related to its measurement, its presence in aquatic systems is of great concern because of the possibility of biomagnification in the food web.

7. Impacts of FDNPP accident on terrestrial ecosystems

Although it is perhaps fortunate for the people of Japan that due to prevailing meteorological conditions at the time of the accident, the bulk of radioactive emissions were transported to the ocean (Evangeliou et al., 2014b), there is a growing body of literature that documents a range of physiological, developmental, genetic, morphological, and behavioral consequences of exposure to anthropogenic radioactivity derived from the FDNPP accident on the terrestrial flora and fauna of the Fukushima region of Japan. Hiyama et al. (2012) used the pale blue grass butterfly, Zizeeria maha, as indicator species to evaluate the environmental impact of ionizing radiation. Some of the morphological abnormalities detected in some individuals of adult butterflies collected in May 2011 increased in number and with time. Similar results were also observed when the sampled adult butterflies were compared to old museum specimens. Genetic studies indicated that certain abnormalities were inherited in the F2 generation of the grass butterfly. These abnormalities may be explained by random mutation in important genes or by epigenetic mechanisms. By comparing their data with those obtained from control populations, the authors concluded that Fukushima-derived anthropogenic radionuclides likely caused the morphological and genetic damage to the butterfly species. The study by Hiyama et al. (2012) was significantly strengthened by laboratory experiments that used both internal and external radiation sources, and these findings validated observations of the elevated mutation rates and phenotypic effects observed in the field (Møller and Mousseau, 2013). However, a recent article by Copplestone and Beresford (2014) has highlighted some drawbacks in the work of Hiyama and colleagues. Copplestone and Beresford (2014) argued that based on data reported by Hiyama et al. (2012) the lethal dose required to kill 50% of exposed individuals (LD₅₀) was equivalent to the radiation levels that organisms receive from exposure to background natural radiation sources. This disconnect between empirical findings and predictions based on theoretical models highlights the many uncertainties in accurately estimating doses in wild populations (Caffrey et al., 2014); it is likely that wild animals are significantly more sensitive

to the effects of radiation than predicted by conventional approaches (Garnier-Laplace et al., 2013).

Low blood cell counts were reported in wild monkeys from the forests of Fukushima City, and compared to the counts in monkeys from Aomori prefecture, 400 km away (Ochiai et al., 2014). The total radiocesium concentration in the muscle of Fukushima wild monkeys ranged from 78 to 1778 Bq kg⁻¹, while the cesium concentration in the control population was reported to be below detection limits. A negative correlation was observed between activity concentrations of Cs and low blood counts in juvenile Fukushima monkeys. Ochiai et al. (2014) concluded that the observed hematological aberration was due to exposure to Fukushima-derived anthropogenic radionuclides. This study was based on a rather limited ecological design. First, the population sizes of the monkeys (61 from Fukushima and 31 from Shimokita) used in the study were rather small and did not include individuals from the more contaminated areas of the region. A similar result showing hematological variations in the Fukushima monkeys had been presented by the same group of authors in an earlier study (Hayama et al., 2013). The level of radiocesium in the Fukushima wild monkeys was similar to that found in sheep in some parts of the UK following the Chernobyl accident-that is, extremely low in terms of damage to the animals themselves (Stallard, 2014). However, the findings of this study are greatly strengthened by comparisons to children living in contaminated areas of northern Ukraine near Chernobyl where similar hematological effects were observed by Stepanova et al. (2008).

A recent study of bull sperm and testes from the Fukushima region found no evidence of significant histological changes (Yamashiro et al., 2013); however, this study was very preliminary with only two bulls from a relatively uncontaminated part of Fukushima used for the analysis of sperm. However, further investigation of reproductive function in a diversity of organisms is warranted given findings of similar studies in Chernobyl which have found evidence for significant male reproductive impairment stemming from exposure to radionuclides (e.g. Hermosell et al., 2013; Møller et al., 2014).

Conservation biologists are concerned with the effects of environmental perturbation on population abundances and biodiversity as these are indicators of overall ecosystem "health." Initial studies of the Fukushima region in July 2011 surveyed abundance and diversity of many species at 300 locations that varied from in exposures of 0.5 µSv/h to more than 30 µSv/h. Several bird species, as well as butterflies and cicadas, were significantly reduced in numbers in the more radioactive areas, even after correcting for other environmental factors known to influence population sizes (Møller et al., 2012, 2013). An additional three years of biological inventories at 400 locations documented that bird abundance and diversity had continued to fall at contaminated locations (Møller et al., in pressb; Møller et al., in pressc). A more detailed analysis of barn swallow (Hirundo rustica) populations found strong evidence of population declines, although preliminary molecular analysis yielded no evidence for significant increases in genetic damage (Bonisoli-Alquati et al., 2015). A recent reanalysis of the Møller et al. (in pressa, in pressb) data uses modern radioecological methods to reconstruct doses to individual birds and provides evidence for dose response effects on bird abundances adding further support to the hypothesis that radioactive contaminants are the likely cause of the observed declines in Fukushima birds (Garnier-Laplace et al., in press). Overall, these investigations of population effects are similar to those found for Chernobyl-affected regions of Ukraine and Belarus, providing some additional support for the hypothesis that radioactive contaminants are the likely causes for the observed declines (Møller and Mousseau, 2009, 2006, 2007a, 2007b, 2011b, 2015; Mousseau and Møller, 2014).

The effects of the FDNPP accident on goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis fujiyamae*) reproduction in North Kanto, Japan were investigated by Murase et al. (2015). This is the only study comparing the situation before and after the accident using the same population. The authors of this recent work compared the historical data concerning the four

stages of goshawk reproduction namely occupancy (stage 1), incubating (stage 2), hatching (stage 3), and fledging (stage 4). The study spans more than two decades (22 years) of data collection. The results suggest that radiation had a negative impact on reproductive performance with a progressive decline in the four stages of reproduction over time being directly related to the air dose rate under nests. Another recent paper by Matsui et al. (2015) has demonstrated that radiation exposure in avian populations depends on the quality (or weight) of nesting material. The authors suggest that the effects of elevated levels of radioactivity in nests could be of particular importance to offspring that are hatched in highly contaminated nests or during the incubation stage of reproduction given the known radio-sensitivity of early developmental stages.

A recent study of Japanese fir trees (*Abies firma*) suggests plants have also been affected by radioactive contaminants (Watanabe et al., 2015). This study compared trees at four locations that varied from 0.13 µSv/h to 33.9 µSv/h ambient dose rate and found a highly significant positive relationship between frequencies of morphological abnormalities and ambient radiation levels. Although the mechanism underlying the observed abnormalities is unknown, similar effects have been reported for pine trees in Chernobyl (e.g. Kozubov and Taskaev, 2006; Mousseau et al., 2013) providing support for the suggestion that radionuclides are the cause of the observed developmental abnormalities.

The potential ecological consequences of the Fukushima accident have been assessed using the ERICA assessment tool for different types of biota in two studies (Aliyu et al., 2015a; Garnier-Laplace et al., 2011). The exposure profile to ¹³¹I, ¹³⁴Cs, and ¹³⁷Cs one month after the FDNNP was used by Garnier-Laplace et al. (2011) for estimated dose rate (mGy day⁻¹) calculations to a variety of organisms. Dose rates to selected reference species were 1.5 mGy day⁻¹ for birds, 2.3 mGy day⁻¹ for soil invertebrates, and 3.9 mGy day⁻¹ for forest trees. Although largely hypothetical, such dose rates could be biologically significant, especially for longer-lived or radiosensitive organisms.

A long-term monitoring program of human health and ecosystem consequences of chronic exposure to radioactive materials in the environment would contribute to a better understanding of effects exposure to low-dose ionizing radiation. In studying the immediate and longterm effects of exposure to low dose radiation one also needs to understand a number of relevant issues such as the possible induction of longterm or multigenerational effects and the capacity of organisms to adapt to stress. There is considerable evidence that many species are able to evolve resistance or tolerance to pollutants through the process of natural selection and a recent study of birds in Chernobyl indicates that adaptation to radiation is possible, at least for some species (Galván et al., 2014). On the other hand, there is considerable evidence for radiationinduced damage to DNA that likely reduces individual fitness and that of offspring when such genetic damage (i.e. mutations) is passed to subsequent generations. Chronically exposed populations are subject to multigenerational mutational accumulation and are more likely to experience local extinction events (Higgins and Lynch, 2001), a subject of great concern to conservation biologists (Møller and Mousseau, 2011a). At this stage, relatively little is known about the genetic (or epigenetic) mechanisms associated with population responses to stressful contaminants. Much greater investment in basic research is thus warranted.

8. Application of isotopes as tracers for environmental processes

Natural and anthropogenic radionuclides can be used as tracers for environmental processes, particularly oceanic transportation and water mixing. In the oceans, the behavior of cesium is thought to be conservative; that is, it is soluble (with only a small fraction adsorbed to marine particulates) and is carried primarily with ocean waters. As such, cesium has been used as a tracer of water mass mixing and transport (Aoyama et al., 2011; Bowen et al., 1980; Buesseler et al., 1991). Following the FDNPP disaster, cesium activity and the ¹³⁴Cs/¹³⁷Cs activity ratio have been measured to assess its environmental effects and to study oceanographic processes. Studies based on samples of atmosphere, soil, seawater and marine biota off Fukushima have shown that the ¹³⁴Cs/¹³⁷Cs activity ratio in the Fukushima derived radionuclides was nearly 1.0 (Buesseler et al., 2011; Hirose, 2012). This ratio is higher than the ¹³⁴Cs/¹³⁷Cs activity ratio of 0.5 measured in the Chernobyl fallout (IAEA, 1986; UNSCEAR, 2000). This makes the tracking of Fukushima derived radionuclides in the ocean quite straightforward since, given its relatively short half-life (2 years), the only source of ¹³⁴Cs in the North Pacific at this time would be the FDNPP. Hence, in addition to the elevated cesium activities, the presence of ¹³⁴Cs is a unique isotopic signature for tracking these waters and provides a means to study the rates of vertical and horizontal mixing processes in the Pacific Ocean.

Pu has high particle affinity compared with cesium, and thus provides a tool for studying a variety of processes in the marine environment such as particle fluxes and scavenging, and for validating various biogeochemical ocean models. However, the most useful aspect of Pu as an environmental tracer is its well-defined source terms (Lindahl et al., 2010). This is because the composition of Pu isotopes from different sources in marine environments varies widely due to the characteristic isotopic composition corresponding to the means of production. For example, reactor-grade Pu typically contains more than 35% ²³⁹Pu with a 240 Pu/ 239 Pu atom ratio of 0.2–1.0 after fuel burn-up (Yamana et al., 2001). In contrast, the ²⁴⁰Pu/²³⁹Pu ratio in weapons-grade Pu is much lower (0.02–0.06) because burn-up is kept low to minimize the production of higher Pu isotopes (Marka, 1993). This review shows that the Fukushima derived ²⁴⁰Pu/²³⁹Pu ratio is 0.216–0.255, which is higher than that of global fallout (0.18), but lower than that of Chernobyl. A summary of the composition of Cs and Pu isotopes for Fukushima, Chernobyl and the global fallout is presented in Table 4.

9. Conclusions

Despite the large number of studies aimed at assessing the impacts of the FDNPP accident, considerable uncertainty remains concerning all aspects of this disaster. Source term estimates vary from 12 to 36.7 PBq for ¹³⁷Cs and 150 to 160 PBq for ¹³¹I. Predictions of human health impacts range to 10,000 estimated deaths, and 1500 and 1800 maximum cancer mortalities and morbidities. Studies of terrestrial systems, although few, have revealed possible significant impacts on some species, notably birds and butterflies; the paucity of data may reflect the very few funded research projects currently underway. Similarly, impacts on marine systems are largely unknown, with data limited to estimates of body burdens for commercially important species. It is perhaps

Table 4

Anthropogenic nuclide isotope ratio characteristics.

Source term	Fukushima	Chernobyl	Global fallout
	$\begin{array}{c} {}^{-1^{i}}\\ 1.95\times 10^{5} {-} 2.53\times 10^{7j}\\ 1.2^{k}\\ 107.8^{m}\\ 0.323 {-} 0.330^{m}\\ 0.128 {-} 0.135^{m} \end{array}$	0.5 ⁿ - 0.5 ^p - 0.408 ^q -	- 38.5 ^r 0.032 ^t 13-16 ^u 0.180 ^v 0.00194 ^w

ⁱ Buesseler et al. (2011).

^j Hirose (2012).

- ^k Lujanienė et al. (2012a, 2012b).
- ^m Zheng et al. (2012).
- ⁿ UNSCEAR (2000).
- ^p IAEA (1986).
- ^q Muramatsu et al. (2000).
- ^r Kelley et al. (1999), Krey et al. (1976).
- ^t Krey et al. (1976).
- ^u Paatero et al. (2012).
- ^v Kelley et al. (1999), Krey et al. (1976).
- ^w Holm (1988).

surprising that there have not been greater efforts to directly assess the health and environmental impacts of this disaster.

Our review of the current literature has shown that it took the radioactive plume resulting from the FDNPP accident a longer time to travel around the world's atmosphere than that of the Chernobyl plume. The explanation is that Fukushima radioactive clouds were released into the PBL, whereas Chernobyl plumes were injected into the troposphere. Of paramount need is a concise summary of field measurement data for FDNPP-derived radionuclides detected in locations around the world. These field measurement data could be used to drive computer models for robust worldwide assessments of human and environmental impacts of the FDNPP accident. There is no substitute for direct measurements when attempting to assess the hazards and risks of any disaster.

Despite the environmental ramifications of fission products released from nuclear accidents and atomic bomb testing, scientists have developed few methods for using radioactive fission products as tracers of environmental processes such as ocean mixing, atmospheric transport and soil processes. In this review, we have provided a few examples for how Fukushima-derived radionuclides have been used to study marine and atmospheric processes. There are undoubtedly many other potential applications of these approaches.

Overall, it is very clear that much remains to be learned concerning the impacts of the FDNPP disaster and we hope that greater investments will be made in the coming years into the basic scientific study of the global health and environmental impacts of this accident.

Acknowledgments

A.S. Aliyu wishes to acknowledge the support of the Research Management Center of the Universiti Teknologi Malaysia for its support through the Post Doc fellowship scheme under the project number (Q.J130000.21A2.01E98). Support for TAM has been provided by the Samuel Freeman Charitable Trust and the University of South Carolina College of Arts & Sciences. The authors are grateful to Elizabeth Farnsworth (of Mount Holyoke College, Massachusetts) for help with manuscript editing.

References

- Aarkrog, A., Baxter, M.S., Bettencourt, A.O., Bojanowski, R., Bologa, A., Charmasson, S., Cunha, I., Delfanti, R., Duran, E., Holm, E., Jeffree, R., Livingston, H.D., Mahapanyawong, S., Nies, H., Osvath, I., Pingyu, L., Povinec, P.P., Sanchez, A., Smith, J.N., Swift, D., 1996. A comparison of doses from ¹³⁷Cs and ²¹⁰Po in marine food: a major international study. J. Environ. Radioact. 34, 69–90.
- Akahane, K., Yonai, S., Fukuda, S., Miyahara, N., Yasuda, H., Iwaoka, K., Matsumoto, M., Fukumura, A., Akashi, M., 2012. The Fukushima Nuclear Power Plant accident and exposures in the environment. Environmentalist 32, 136–143. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s10669-011-9381-2.
- Aliyu, A.S., 2014. Atmospheric Dispersion Analysis for Potential Radiological Impact Assessment of Nigeria's Pioneer Nuclear Power Plant Physics. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.
- Aliyu, A.S., Ramli, A.T., Saleh, M.A., 2015b. Assessment of potential human health and environmental impacts of a nuclear power plant (NPP) based on atmospheric dispersion modeling. Atmosfera 28, 13–26.
- Aliyu, A.S., Ramli, A.T., Garba, N.N., Saleh, M.A., Gabdo, H.T., Liman, M.S., 2015a. Fukushima nuclear accident: preliminary assessment of the risks to non-human biota. Radiat. Prot. Dosim. 162, 238–250. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncu158.
- Almgren, S., Isaksson, M., 2006. Vertical migration studies of ¹³⁷Cs from nuclear weapons fallout and the Chernobyl accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 91, 90–102. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvrad.2006.08.008.
- Aoyama, M., Hirose, K., 2004. Artificial radionuclides database in the Pacific Ocean: HAM database. Sci. World J. 4, 200–215 (electronic resource).
- Aoyama, M., Fukasawa, M., Hirose, K., Hamajima, Y., Kawano, T., Povinec, P.P., Sanchez-Cabeza, J.A., 2011. Cross equator transport of ¹³⁷Cs from North Pacific Ocean to South Pacific Ocean (BEAGLE2003 cruises). Prog. Oceanogr. 89, 7–16.
- Baeza, A., Corbacho, J.A., Rodríguez, A., Galván, J., García-Tenorio, R., Manjón, G., Mantero, J., Vioque, I., Arnold, D., Grossi, C., Serrano, I., Vallés, I., Vargas, A., 2012. Influence of the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear accident on Spanish environmental radioactivity levels. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 138–145. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2012. 03.001.
- Bailly du Bois, P., Laguionie, P., Boust, D., Korsakissok, I., Didier, D., Fiévet, B., 2012. Estimation of marine source-term following Fukushima Dai-ichi accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 2–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.11.015.

- Barsanti, M., Conte, F., Delbono, I., Iurlaro, G., Battisti, P., Bortoluzzi, S., Lorenzelli, R., Salvi, S., Zicari, S., Papucci, C., Delfanti, R., 2012. Environmental radioactivity analyses in Italy following the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 126–130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.12.020.
- Beresford, N.A., Barnett, C.L., Howard, B.J., Howard, D.C., Wells, C., Tyler, A.N., Bradley, S., Copplestone, D., 2012. Observations of Fukushima fallout in Great Britain. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 48–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.12.008.
- Beyea, J., Lyman, E., von Hippel, F.N., 2013. Accounting for long-term doses in "worldwide health effects of the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear accident". Energy Environ. Sci. 6, 1042–1045.
- Bikit, I., Mrda, D., Todorovic, N., Nikolov, J., Krmar, M., Veskovic, M., Slivka, J., Hansman, J., Forkapic, S., Jovancevic, N., 2012. Airborne radioiodine in northern Serbia from Fukushima. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 89–93. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad. 2012.01.020.
- Bolsunovsky, A., Dementyev, D., 2011. Evidence of the radioactive fallout in the center of Asia (Russia) following the Fukushima Nuclear Accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 102, 1062–1064. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.06.007.
- Bonisoli-Alquati, A.K., Koyama, D.J., Tedeschi, W., Kitamura, H., Suzuki, S., Jenkinson, E.A., Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2015. Abundance and genetic damage of barn swallows from Fukushima. Sci. Rep. 9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep09432.
- Bowen, V.T., Noshkin, V.E., Livingston, H.D., Volchok, H.L., 1980. Fallout radionuclides in the Pacific Ocean: vertical and horizontal distributions, largely from GEOSECS stations. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 49, 411–434.
- Brenner, D., Sachs, R., 2006. Estimating radiation-induced cancer risks at very low doses: rationale for using a linear no-threshold approach. Radiat. Environ. Biophys. 44, 253–256. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00411-006-0029-4.
- Brenner, D.J., Doll, R., Goodhead, D.T., Hall, E.J., Land, C.E., Little, J.B., Lubin, J.H., Preston, D.L., Preston, R.J., Puskin, J.S., Ron, E., Sachs, R.K., Samet, J.M., Setlow, R.B., Zaider, M., 2003. Cancer risks attributable to low doses of ionizing radiation: assessing what we really know. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 13761–13766. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.2235592100.
- Buck, E.H., 2011. Effects of Radiation From Fukushima Daiichi on the US Marine Environment. DIANE Publishing.
- Buesseler, K.O., 2012. Fishing for answers off Fukushima. Science 338, 480–482.
- Buesseler, K., Aoyama, M., Fukasawa, M., 2011. Impacts of the Fukushima nuclear power plants on marine radioactivity. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 9931–9935.
- Buesseler, K.O., Jayne, S.R., Fisher, N.S., Rypina, I.I., Baumann, H., Baumann, Z., Breier, C.F., Douglass, E.M., George, J., Macdonald, A.M., Miyamoto, H., Nishikawa, J., Pike, S.M., Yoshida, S., 2012. Fukushima-derived radionuclides in the ocean and biota off Japan. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 5984–5988.
- Buesseler, K.O., Livingston, H.D., Casso, S.A., 1991. Mixing between oxic and anoxic waters of the Black Sea as traced by Chernobyl cesium isotopes. Deep-Sea Res. A 38, S725–S745.
- Burns, P.C., Ewing, R.C., Navrotsky, A., 2012. Nuclear fuel in a reactor accident. Science (Washington) 335, 1184–1188.
- Butler, D., 2011. Radioactivity spreads in Japan. Nature 471, 555-556.
- Caffrey, E.A., Leonard, M.E., Napier, J.B., Neville, D.R., Higley, K.A., 2014. Radioecology: why bother? J. Environ. Prot.
- Carpenter, J., Tinker, R., 2012. Assessment of the impact on Australia from the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant accident. Technical Report No. 162. Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ARPANSA), Yallambie VIC.
- Carvalho, F.P., Reis, M.C., Oliveira, J.M., Malta, M., Silva, L., 2012. Radioactivity from Fukushima nuclear accident detected in Lisbon, Portugal. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 152–156. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2012.03.005.
- Chai, T., Draxler, R., Stein, A., 2015. Source term estimation using air concentration measurements and a Lagrangian dispersion model – experiments with pseudo and real cesium-137 observations from the Fukushima nuclear accident. Atmos. Environ. 106, 241–251. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.01.070.
- Charette, M.A., Breier, C.F., Henderson, P.B., Pike, S.M., Rypina, I.I., Jayne, S.R., Buesseler, K.O., 2013. Radium-based estimates of cesium isotope transport and total direct ocean discharges from the Fukushima Nuclear Power Plant accident. Biogeosci. Discuss. 9, 16139–16160. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bgd-9-16139-2012.
- Chen, J., 2013. Evaluation of radioactivity concentrations from the Fukushima nuclear accident in fish products and associated risk to fish consumers. Radiat. Prot. Dosim. 157, 1–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rpd/nct239.
- Chen, J., Cooke, M.W., Mercier, J.-F., Ahier, B., Trudel, M., Workman, G., Wyeth, M., Brown, R., 2014. A report on radioactivity measurements of fish samples from the West Coast of Canada. Radiat. Prot. Dosim. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncu150.
- Chino, M., Nakayama, H., Nagai, H., Terada, H., Katata, G., Yamazawa, H., 2011. Preliminary estimation of release amounts of ¹³¹I and ¹³⁷Cs accidentally discharged from the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant into the atmosphere. J. Nucl. Sci. Technol. 48, 1129–1134.
- Christoudias, T., Lelieveld, J., 2013. Modelling the global atmospheric transport and deposition of radionuclides from the Fukushima Dai-Ichi nuclear accident. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 1425–1438.
- Clemenza, M., Fiorini, E., Previtali, E., Sala, E., 2012. Measurement of airborne ¹³¹I, ¹³⁴Cs and ¹³⁷Cs due to the Fukushima reactor incident in Milan (Italy). J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 113–118. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.12.012.
- Copplestone, D., Beresford, N., 2014. Questionable studies won't help identify Fukushima's effects. The Conversation.
- Cosma, C., Iurian, A.R., Niţă, D.C., Begy, R., Cîndea, C., 2012. Indicators of the Fukushima radioactive release in NW Romania. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 94–99. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.11.020.
- CTBTO, 2011. Fukushima-related Measurements by CTBTO. Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organization, Preparatory Commission Vienna.

- Cuttler, J.M., 2010. Commentary on using LNT for radiation protection and risk assessment. Dose-Response 8, 378–383.
- Draxler, R., 2004. Hybrid single-particle Lagrangian integrated trajectory model. Hysplit PC Training Seminar. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Draxler, R.R., Hess, G., 1997. Description of the HYSPLIT4 Modeling System.
- Eidemüller, M., Ostroumova, E., Krestinina, L., Epiphanova, S., Akleyev, A., Jacob, P., 2010. Comparison of mortality and incidence solid cancer risk after radiation exposure in the Techa River Cohort. Radiat. Environ. Biophys. 49, 477–490. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s00411-010-0289-x.
- Evangeliou, N., Balkanski, Y., Cozic, A., Møller, A., 2013a. Simulations of the transport and deposition of ¹³⁷Cs over Europe after the Chernobyl nuclear power plant accident: influence of varying emission-altitude and model horizontal and vertical resolution. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 7183–7198.
- Evangeliou, N., Balkanski, Y., Cozic, A., Møller, A.P., 2013b. Global transport and deposition of ¹³⁷Cs following the Fukushima nuclear power plant accident in Japan: Emphasis on Europe and Asia using high-resolution model versions and radiological impact assessment of the human population and the environment using interactive tools. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 5803–5812. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es400372u.
- Evangeliou, N., Balkanski, Y., Cozic, A., Møller, A.P., 2014a. Global and local cancer risks after the Fukushima Nuclear Power Plant accident as seen from Chernobyl: a modeling study for radiocaesium (1³⁴Cs & 1³⁷Cs). Environ. Int. 64, 17–27. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envint.2013.11.020.
- Evangeliou, N., Balkanski, Y., Cozic, A., Møller, A.P., 2014b. How "lucky" we are that the Fukushima disaster occurred in early spring: predictions on the contamination levels from various fission products released from the accident and updates on the risk assessment for solid and thyroid cancers. Sci. Total Environ. 500–501, 155–172. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.08.102.
- Evangeliou, N., Balkanski, Y., Florou, H., Eleftheriadis, K., Cozic, A., Kritidis, P., 2015. Global deposition and transport efficiencies of radioactive species with respect to modeling credibility after Fukushima (Japan, 2011). J. Environ. Radioact. 149, 164–175.
- Evrard, O., Van Beek, P., Gateuille, D., Pont, V., Lefèvre, I., Lansard, B., Bonté, P., 2012. Evidence of the radioactive fallout in France due to the Fukushima nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 54–60. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2012.01.024.
- Galván, I., Bonisoli-Alquati, A., Jenkinson, S., Ghanem, G., Wakamatsu, K., Mousseau, T.A., Møller, A.P., 2014. Chronic exposure to low-dose radiation at Chernobyl favours adaptation to oxidative stress in birds. Funct. Ecol. 28, 1387–1403.
- Garnier-Laplace, J., Beaugelin-Seiller, K., Della-Vedova, C., Métivier, J., Ritz, C., Mousseau, T.A., Møller, A.P., 2015. A reassessment of the association between abundance and species diversity of birds at Fukushima in relation to chronic radiation exposure. Sci. Rep. (in press).
- Garnier-Laplace, J., Beaugelin-Seiller, K., Hinton, T.G., 2011. Fukushima wildlife dose reconstruction signals ecological consequences. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 5077–5078.
- Garnier-Laplace, J., Geras'kin, S., Della-Vedova, C., Beaugelin-Seiller, K., Hinton, T.G., Real, A., Oudalova, A., 2013. Are radiosensitivity data derived from natural field conditions consistent with data from controlled exposures? A case study of Chernobyl wildlife chronically exposed to low dose rates. J. Environ. Radioact. 121, 12–21. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2012.01.013.
- Güngör, E., Güngör, N., Yüksel, A., Bağ, G., Orhan, N., 2014. Fukushima radionuclides at air filter and rain water samples collected from Istanbul and their atmospheric removal time. Radiat. Prot. Dosim. 158, 195–200. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rpd/nct205.
- Harrison, R., ApSimon, H.M., Beck, H., Devell, L., Dickerson, M., Garland, J.A., Graziani, G., Gudiksen, P., WA, M.K., Mishra, U.C., Nicholson, K.W., FBS, Shapiro, C.S., 1993. Atmospheric pathways. In: Warner, F., Harrison, R. (Eds.), Radioecology After Chernobyl: Biogeochemical Pathways of Artificial Radionuclides. John Wiley, Chichester, U.K.
- Hayama, S.-i., Nakiri, S., Nakanishi, S., Ishii, N., Uno, T., Kato, T., Konno, F., Kawamoto, Y., Tsuchida, S., Ochiai, K., Omi, T., 2013. Concentration of radiocesium in the Wild Japanese Monkey (*Macaca fuscata*) over the first 15 months after the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear disaster. PLoS ONE 8, e68530. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0068530.
- Hermosell, I.G., Laskemoen, T., Rowe, M., Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., Albrecht, T., Lifjeld, J.T., 2013. Patterns of sperm damage in Chernobyl passerine birds suggest a trade-off between sperm length and integrity. Biol. Lett. 9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013. 0530.
- Higgins, K., Lynch, M., 2001. Metapopulation extinction caused by mutation accumulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 98, 2928–2933.
- Hirose, K., 2012. 2011 Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant accident: summary of regional radioactive deposition monitoring results. J. Environ. Radioact. 111, 13–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.09.003.
- Hiyama, A., Nohara, C., Kinjo, S., Taira, W., Gima, S., Tanahara, A., Otaki, J.M., 2012. The biological impacts of the Fukushima nuclear accident on the pale grass blue butterfly. Sci. Rep. 2. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep00570.
- Hoffman, F.O., Kocher, D.C., Apostoaei, A.I., 2011. Beyond dose assessment: using risk with full disclosure of uncertainty in public and scientific communication. Health Phys. 101, 591–600.
- Holm, E., 1988. Determination of ²⁴¹Pu in environmental samples by a radiochemical procedure. Environ. Int. 14, 363–365. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0160-4120(88)90016-5.
- Homoki, Z., Déri, Z., Fülöp, N., Kelemen, M., Kónyi, J.K., Laca, É.O., Szabó, G., Ugron, Á., Turai, I., 2013. Assessment of environmental radiation monitoring data in Hungary following the Fukushima accident. Radioprotection 48, S117–S123. http://dx.doi. org/10.1051/radiopro/20139918.
- Honda, M.C., Aono, T., Aoyama, M., Hamajima, Y., Kawakami, H., Kitamura, M., Masumoto, Y., Miyazawa, Y., Takigawa, M., Saino, T., 2012. Dispersion of artificial caesium-134 and -137 in the western North Pacific one month after the Fukushima accident. Geochem. J. 46, e1–e9. http://dx.doi.org/10.2343/geochemj.1.0152.
- Hong, G.H., Hernández-Ceballos, M.A., Lozano, R.L., Kim, Y.I., Lee, H.M., Kim, S.H., Yeh, S.W., Bolívar, J.P., Baskaran, M., 2012. Radioactive impact in South Korea from the

damaged nuclear reactors in Fukushima: evidence of long and short range transport. J. Radiol. Prot. 32, 397.

- Hosoda, M., Tokonami, S., Akiba, S., Kurihara, O., Sorimachi, A., Ishikawa, T., Momose, T., Nakano, T., Mariya, Y., Kashiwakura, I., 2013. Estimation of internal exposure of the thyroid to ¹³¹I on the basis of ¹³⁴Cs accumulated in the body among evacuees of the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Station accident. Environ. Int. 61, 73–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.09.013.
- Hsu, S.-C., Huh, C.-A., Chan, C.-Y., Lin, S.-H., Lin, F.-J., Liu, S.C., 2012. Hemispheric dispersion of radioactive plume laced with fission nuclides from the Fukushima nuclear event. Geophys. Res. Lett. 39, L00G22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/ 2011GL049986.
- Huh, C.-A., Hsu, S.-C., Lin, C.-Y., 2012. Fukushima-derived fission nuclides monitored around Taiwan: free tropospheric versus boundary layer transport. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 319–320, 9–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2011.12.004.
- IAEA, 1986. Summary report on the post accident review meeting on the Chernobyl accident. Safety Series. International Atomi Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria.
- IAEA, 2004. Sediment Distribution Coefficients and Concentration Factors for Biota in the Marine Environment, Vienna, Austria, International Atomic Energy Agency.
- INES, 2009. The International Nuclear and Radiological Event Scale User's Manual: INES 2008. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna.
- IPPNW, 2013. Information on nuclear energy and the energy transition. Nuclear Catastrophe in Japan: Health Consequences Resulting From Fukushima International Physicians for the Prevention of Nuclear War.
- IRSN, 2012. Fukushima, one year later. Initial Analyses of the Accident and Its Consequences. Institut de Radioprotection et de Surete Nucleaire.
- Ishikawa, T., Sorimachi, A., Arae, H., Sahoo, S.K., Janik, M., Hosoda, M., Tokonami, S., 2014. Simultaneous sampling of indoor and outdoor airborne radioactivity after the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant accident. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 2430–2435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es404691m.
- Isnard, O., 2006. C3X une nouvelle plateforme d'évaluation des conséquences d'un rejet atmosphérique. Institut de radioprotection et de sûreté nucléaire (IRSN).
- Jilani, A.B., 2009. Atmospheric Dispersion and Consequence Modeling of Radiological Emergencies. Chemical and Material Engineering, Pakistan Institute of Engineering & Applied Sciences.
- JMA, 2011. Results of the Inspection on Radioactivity Materials in Fisheries Products (press release March 2011 to March 2012). Japan Ministry of Agriculture.
- Johansen, M.P., Ruedig, E., Tagami, K., Uchida, S., Higley, K., Beresford, N.A., 2014. Radiological dose rates to marine fish from the Fukushima Daiichi accident: the first three years across the north Pacific. Environ. Sci. Technol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ es505064d.
- Kaeriyama, H., Watabe, T., Kusakabe, M., 2008. ¹³⁷Cs concentration in zooplankton and its relation to taxonomic composition in the western North Pacific Ocean. J. Environ. Radioact. 99, 1838–1845. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2008.08.006.
- Kasamatsu, F., Ishikawa, Y., 1997. Natural variation of radionuclide ¹³⁷Cs concentration in marine organisms with special reference to the effect of food habits and trophic level. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 160, 109–120.
- Katata, G., Chino, M., Kobayashi, T., Terada, H., Ota, M., Nagai, H., Kajino, M., Draxler, R., Hort, M., Malo, A., 2014. Detailed source term estimation of the atmospheric release for the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Station accident by coupling simulations of atmospheric dispersion model with improved deposition scheme and oceanic dispersion model. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. 14, 14725–14832.
- Katata, G., Chino, M., Kobayashi, T., Terada, H., Ota, M., Nagai, H., Kajino, M., Draxler, R., Hort, M., Malo, A., 2015a. Detailed source term estimation of the atmospheric release for the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Station accident by coupling simulations of an atmospheric dispersion model with an improved deposition scheme and oceanic dispersion model. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 15, 1029–1070.
- Katata, G., Chino, M., Kobayashi, T., Terada, H., Ota, M., Nagai, H., Kajino, M., Draxler, R., Hort, M.C., Malo, A., Torii, T., Sanada, Y., 2015b. Detailed source term estimation of the atmospheric release for the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Station accident by coupling simulations of an atmospheric dispersion model with an improved deposition scheme and oceanic dispersion model. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 15, 1029–1070. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/acp-15–1029–2015.
- Katata, G., Terada, H., Nagai, H., Chino, M., 2012. Numerical reconstruction of high dose rate zones due to the Fukushima Dai-ichi Nuclear Power Plant accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 111, 2–12.
- Kawamura, H., Kobayashi, T., Furuno, A., In, T., Ishikawa, Y., Nakayama, T., Shima, S., Awaji, T., 2011. Preliminary numerical experiments on oceanic dispersion of ¹³¹I and ¹³⁷Cs discharged into the ocean because of the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant disaster. J. Nucl. Sci. Technol. 48, 1349–1356.
- Kelley, J.M., Bond, L.A., Beasley, T.M., 1999. Global distribution of Pu isotopes and ²³⁷Np. Sci. Total Environ. 237–238, 483–500. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(99)00160-6.
- Kim, C.-K., Byun, J.-I., Chae, J.-S., Choi, H.-Y., Choi, S.-W., Kim, D.-J., Kim, Y.-J., Lee, D.-M., Park, W.-J., Yim, S.A., 2012. Radiological impact in Korea following the Fukushima nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 111, 70–82.
- Kinoshita, N., Sueki, K., Sasa, K., J-i, K., Ikarashi, S., Nishimura, T., Wong, Y.-S., Satou, Y., Handa, K., Takahashi, T., Sato, M., Yamagata, T., 2011. Assessment of individual radionuclide distributions from the Fukushima nuclear accident covering central-east Japan. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 19526–19529. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1111724108.
- Knapinska-Skiba, D., Bojanowski, R., Piękoś, R., 2003. Activity concentration of caesium-137 in seawater and plankton of the Pomeranian Bay (the Southern Baltic Sea) before and after flood in 1997. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 46, 1558–1562. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0025-326X(03)00317-5.
- Kozubov, G., Taskaev, A., 2006. Characteristics of morphogenesis and growth processes of conifers in the Chernobyl nuclear accident zone. Radiats. Biol. Radioecol. 47, 204–223.

- Krey, P., Hardy, E., Pachucki, C., Rourke, F., Coluzza, J., Benson, W., 1976. Mass isotopic composition of global fall-out plutonium in soil. Transuranium Nuclides in the Environment. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna.
- Kristiansen, N., Stohl, A., Wotawa, G., 2012. Atmospheric removal times of the aerosolbound radionuclides ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³¹I measured after the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear accident—a constraint for air quality and climate models. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 12, 10759–10769.
- Kritidis, P., Florou, H., Eleftheriadis, K., Evangeliou, N., Gini, M., Sotiropoulou, M., Diapouli, E., Vratolis, S., 2012. Radioactive pollution in Athens, Greece due to the Fukushima nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 100–104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvrad.2011.12.006.
- Kumamoto, Y., Aoyama, M., Hamajima, Y., Murata, A., Kawano, T., 2015. Impact of Fukushima-derived radiocesium in the western North Pacific Ocean about ten months after the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 140, 114–122. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2014.11.010.
- Leon, J.D., Jaffe, D.A., Kaspar, J., Knecht, A., Miller, M.L., Robertson, R.G.H., Schubert, A.G., 2011. Arrival time and magnitude of airborne fission products from the Fukushima, Japan, reactor incident as measured in Seattle, WA, USA. J. Environ. Radioact. 102, 1032–1038. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.06.005.
- Leppänen, A.-P., Mattila, A., Kettunen, M., Kontro, R., 2013. Artificial radionuclides in surface air in Finland following the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 126, 273–283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad. 2013.08.008.
- Lindahl, P., Lee, S.-H., Worsfold, P., Keith-Roach, M., 2010. Plutonium isotopes as tracers for ocean processes: a review. Mar. Environ. Res. 69, 73–84. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.marenvres.2009.08.002.
- Long, N.Q., Truong, Y., Hien, P.D., Binh, N.T., Sieu, L.N., Giap, T.V., Phan, N.T., 2012. Atmospheric radionuclides from the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear reactor accident observed in Vietnam. J. Environ. Radioact. 111, 53–58. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad. 2011.11.018.
- Lozano, R.L., Hernández-Ceballos, M.A., Adame, J.A., Casas-Ruíz, M., Sorribas, M., Miguel, E.G.S., Bolívar, J.P., 2011. Radioactive impact of Fukushima accident on the Iberian Peninsula: evolution and plume previous pathway. Environ. Int. 37, 1259–1264. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.06.001.
- Lujanienė, G., Byčenkienė, S., Povinec, P.P., Gera, M., 2012a. Radionuclides from the Fukushima accident in the air over Lithuania: measurement and modelling approaches. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 71–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011. 12.004.
- Lujanienė, G., Valiulis, D., Byčenkienė, S., Šakalys, J., Povinec, P., 2012b. Plutonium isotopes and ²⁴¹Am in the atmosphere of Lithuania: a comparison of different source terms. Atmos. Environ. 61, 419–427.
- Lujanienė, G., Byčenkienė, S., Povinec, P.P., 2013. Fukushima radionuclides in Vilnius/ Lithuania aerosols: modelling of aerosol transport. Appl. Radiat. Isot. 81, 330–334. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apradiso.2013.03.072.
- MacMullin, S., Giovanetti, G., Green, M., Henning, R., Holmes, R., Vorren, K., Wilkerson, J., 2012. Measurement of airborne fission products in Chapel Hill, NC, USA from the Fukushima Dai-ichi reactor accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 112, 165–170.
- Manolopoulou, M., Vagena, E., Stoulos, S., Ioannidou, A., Papastefanou, C., 2011. Radioiodine and radiocesium in Thessaloniki, Northern Greece due to the Fukushima nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 102, 796–797. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvrad.2011.04.010.
- Marka, J.C., 1993. Explosive properties of reactor-grade plutonium. Sci. Glob. Secur. 4, 111–128. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08929889308426394.
- Marshall, J., Plumb, R.A., 1965. Atmosphere, Ocean and Climate Dynamics: An Introductory Text. Academic Press.
- Marzano, F.N., Triulzi, C., 1994. A radioecological survey of Northern and Middle Adriatic Sea before and after the Chernobyl event (1979–1990). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 28, 244–253. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(94)90100-7.
- Masson, O., Baeza, A., Bieringer, J., Brudecki, K., Bucci, S., Cappai, M., Carvalho, F.P., Connan, O., Cosma, C., Dalheimer, A., Didier, D., Depuydt, G., De Geer, L.E., De Vismes, A., Gini, L., Groppi, F., Gudnason, K., Gurriaran, R., Hainz, D., Halldórsson, Ó., Hammond, D., Hanley, O., Holeý, K., Homoki, Z., Ioannidou, A., Isajenko, K., Jankovic, M., Katzlberger, C., Kettunen, M., Kierepko, R., Kontro, R., Kwakman, P.J.M., Lecomte, M., Leon Vintro, L., Leppänen, A.P., Lind, B., Lujaniene, G., Mc Ginnity, P., Mahon, C.M., Malá, H., Manenti, S., Manolopoulou, M., Mattila, A., Mauring, A., Mietelski, J.W., Møller, B., Nielsen, S.P., Nikolic, J., Overwater, R.M.W., Pálsson, S.E., Papastefanou, C., Penev, I., Pham, M.K., Povinec, P.P., Ramebäck, H., Reis, M.C., Ringer, W., Rodriguez, A., Rulík, P., Saey, P.R.J., Samsonov, V., Schlosser, C., Sgorbati, G., Steinkopff, T., Steinmann, P., Stoulos, S., Sýkora, I., Todorovic, D., Tooloutalaie, N., Tositti, L., Tschiersch, J., Ugron, A., Vagena, E., Vargas, A., Wershofen, H., Zhukova, O., 2011. Tracking of airborne radionuclides from the damaged Fukushima Dai-Ichi nuclear reactors by European networks. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7670–7677. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es2017158.
- Mathews, J.D., Forsythe, A.V., Brady, Z., Butler, M.W., Goergen, S.K., Byrnes, G.B., Giles, G.G., Wallace, A.B., Anderson, P.R., Guiver, T.A., McGale, P., Cain, T.M., Dowty, J.G., Bickerstaffe, A.C., Darby, S.C., 2013. Cancer risk in 680 000 people exposed to computed tomography scans in childhood or adolescence: data linkage study of 11 million Australians. BMJ 346, f2360. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f2360.
- Matsui, S., Kasahara, S., Morimoto, G., Mikami, O.K., Watanabe, M., Ueda, K., 2015. Radioactive contamination of nest materials of the Eurasian Tree Sparrow Passer montanus due to the Fukushima nuclear accident: the significance in the first year. Environ. Pollut. 206, 159–162. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2015.06.013.
- MEXT, 2011. Monitoring Data at Ibaraki Prefecture 15th–18th March, 2011. Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan.

Mierelski, J.W., Kierepko, R., Brudecki, K., Janowski, P., Kleszcz, K., Tomankiewicz, E., 2014. Long-range transport of gaseous I-131 and other radionuclides from Fukushima accident to Southern Poland. Atmos. Environ. 91, 137–145. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. atmosenv.2014.03.065.

- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2006. Biological consequences of Chernobyl: 20 years on. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 200–207. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.01.008.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2007a. Determinants of interspecific variation in population declines of birds after exposure to radiation at Chernobyl. J. Appl. Ecol. 44, 909–919. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01353.x.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2007b. Species richness and abundance of forest birds in relation to radiation at Chernobyl. Biol. Lett. 3, 483–486. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl. 2007.0226.
- Møller, A., Mousseau, T., 2009. Reduced abundance of raptors in radioactively contaminated areas near Chernobyl. J. Ornithol. 150, 239–246. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s10336-008-0343-5.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2011a. Conservation consequences of Chernobyl and other nuclear accidents. Biol. Conserv. 144, 2787–2798. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon. 2011.08.009.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2011b. Efficiency of bio-indicators for low-level radiation under field conditions. Ecol. Indic. 11, 424–430. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind. 2010.06.013.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2013. Low-dose radiation, scientific scrutiny, and requirements for demonstrating effects. BMC Biol. 11, 92.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., 2015. Strong effects of ionizing radiation from Chernobyl on mutation rates. Sci. Rep. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep08363.
- Møller, A., Mousseau, T., Nishiumi, I.K.U., 2015a. Ecological differences in response of bird species to radioactivity from Chernobyl and Fukushima. J. Ornithol. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s10336-015-1173-x.
- Møller, A.P., Mousseau, T.A., Nishiumi, I., Ueda, K., 2015c. Ecological differences in response of bird species to radioactivity from Chernobyl and Fukushima. J. Ornithol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10336-015-1173-x.
- Møller, A.P., Nishiumi, I., Mousseau, T.A., 2015b. Cumulative effects on interspecific differences in response of birds to radioactivity from Fukushima. J. Ornithol. http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s10336-015-1197-2 (in press).
- Møller, A.P., Bonisoli-Alquati, A., Mousseau, T.A., Rudolfsen, G., 2014. Aspermy, sperm quality and radiation in chernobyl birds. PLoS One 9, e100296.
- Møller, A.P., Hagiwara, A., Matsui, S., Kasahara, S., Kawatsu, K., Nishiumi, I., Suzuki, H., Ueda, K., Mousseau, T.A., 2012. Abundance of birds in Fukushima as judged from Chernobyl. Environ. Pollut. 164, 36–39. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2012. 01.008.
- Differences in effects of radiation on abundance of animals in Fukushima and ChernobylMøller, A.P., Nishiumi, I., Suzuki, H., Ueda, K., Mousseau, T.A., 2013. Ecol. Indic. 24, 75–81. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.06.001.
- Mousseau, T.A., Møller, A.P., 2014. Genetic and ecological studies of animals in Chernobyl and Fukushima. J. Hered. 105, 704–709.
- Mousseau, T., Welch, S., Chizhevsky, I., Bondarenko, O., Milinevsky, G., Tedeschi, D., Bonisoli-Alquati, A., Møller, A., 2013. Tree rings reveal extent of exposure to ionizing radiation in Scots pine *Pinus sylvestris*. Trees 27, 1443–1453. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s00468-013-0891-z.
- Huramatsu, Y., Rühm, W., Yoshida, S., Tagami, K., Uchida, S., Wirth, E., 2000. Concentrations of ²³⁹Pu and ²⁴⁰Pu and their isotopic ratios determined by ICP-MS in soils collected from the Chernobyl 30-km zone. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34, 2913–2917. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es0008968.
- Murase, K., Murase, J., Horie, R., Endo, K., 2015. Effects of the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear accident on goshawk reproduction. Sci. Rep. 5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep09405. Nakanishi, T., Matsunaga, T., Koarashi, J., Atarashi-Andoh, M., 2014. ¹³⁷Cs vertical migra-
- Nakanishi, T., Matsunaga, T., Koarashi, J., Atarashi-Andoh, M., 2014. ¹³⁷Cs vertical migration in a deciduous forest soil following the Fukushima Dai-ichi Nuclear Power Plant accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 128, 9–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad. 2013.10.019.
- NEA, 2002. Chernobyl: Assessment of Radiological and Health Impacts—2002 Update of Chernobyl: Ten Years On, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Publications. Nuclear Energy Agency, Paris.
- NERHJ, 2011. Report of Japanese Government to the IAEA Ministerial Conference on Nuclear Safety. Nuclear Emergency Response Headquarters Government of Japan (NERHI).
- NRC, 2006. Health Risks From Exposure to Low Levels of Ionizing Radiation. BEIR VII Phase 2. United States National Research Council.
- NSCJ, 2011. In: Japan NSCo (Ed.), Trial estimation of emission of radioactive materials (I-131, Cs-137) into the atmosphere from Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power station (Tokyo).
- Ochiai, K., Hayama, S.-i., Nakiri, S., Nakanishi, S., Ishii, N., Uno, T., Kato, T., Konno, F., Kawamoto, Y., Tsuchida, S., Omi, T., 2014. Low blood cell counts in wild Japanese monkeys after the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear disaster. Sci. Rep. 4. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/srep05793.
- Ohno, T., Muramatsu, Y., 2014. Determination of radioactive cesium isotope ratios by triple quadrupole ICP-MS and its application to rainwater following the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant accident. J. Anal. At. Spectrom. 29, 347–351. http://dx. doi.org/10.1039/c3ja50291k.
- Oza, R., Indumati, S., Puranik, V., Sharma, D., Ghosh, A., 2013. Simplified approach for reconstructing the atmospheric source term for Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant accident using scanty meteorological data. Ann. Nucl. Energy 58, 95–101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anucene.2013.03.016.
- Paatero, J., Vira, J., Siitari-Kauppi, M., Hatakka, J., Holmén, K., Viisanen, Y., 2012. Airborne fission products in the high Arctic after the Fukushima nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 41–47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad. 2011.12.027.

- Periáñez, R., Suh, K.-S., Min, B.-I., 2013. Should we measure plutonium concentrations in marine sediments near Fukushima? J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 298, 635–638. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10967-013-2422-1.
- Perrot, F., Hubert, P., Marquet, C., Pravikoff, M.S., Bourquin, P., Chiron, H., Guernion, P.Y., Nachab, A., 2012. Evidence of ¹³¹I and ^{134,137}Cs activities in Bordeaux, France due to the Fukushima nuclear accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 61–65. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvrad.2011.12.026.
- Pham, M.K., Ériksson, M., Levy, I., Nies, H., Osvath, I., Betti, M., 2012. Detection of Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant accident radioactive traces in Monaco. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 131–137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2012. 01.010.
- Pittauerová, D., Hettwig, B., Fischer, H.W., 2011. Fukushima fallout in Northwest German environmental media. J. Environ. Radioact. 102, 877–880. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvrad.2011.06.003.
- Povinec, P.P., Hirose, K., Aoyama, M., 2012a. Radiostrontium in the Western North Pacific: characteristics, behavior, and the Fukushima impact. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 10356–10363. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es301997c.
- Povinec, P.P., Sýkora, I., Holý, K., Gera, M., Kováčik, A., Brest'áková, L., 2012b. Aerosol radioactivity record in Bratislava/Slovakia following the Fukushima accident – a comparison with global fallout and the Chernobyl accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 114, 81–88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2012.05.008.
- RJG, 2011. Report of Japanese Government: The Accident at TEPCO's Fukushima Nuclear Power Stations.
- Rulík, P., Hýža, M., Bečková, V., Borecký, Z., Havránek, J., Hölgye, Z., Lušňák, J., Malá, H., Matzner, J., Pilátová, H., Rada, J., Schlesingerová, E., Šindelková, E., Dragounová, L., Vlček, J., 2014. Monitoring radionuclides in the atmosphere over the Czech Republic after the Fukushima nuclear power plant accident. Radiat. Prot. Dosim. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncu154.
- Saegusa, J., Kikuta, Y., Akino, H., 2013. Observation of gamma-rays from fallout collected at Ibaraki, Japan, during the Fukushima nuclear accident. Appl. Radiat. Isot. 77, 56–60. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apradiso.2013.02.018.
- Saunier, O., Mathieu, A., Didier, D., Tombette, M., Quélo, D., Winiarek, V., Bocquet, M., 2013. An inverse modeling method to assess the source term of the Fukushima nuclear power plant accident using gamma dose rate observations. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 11403–11421.
- SCJ, 2014. A Review of the Model Comparison of Transportation and Deposition of Radioactive Materials Released to the Environment as a Result of the Tokyo Electric Power Company's Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant Accident. Science Council of Japan.
- Shchepetkin, A.F., McWilliams, J.C., 2005. The regional oceanic modeling system (ROMS): a split-explicit, free-surface, topography-following-coordinate oceanic model. Ocean Model. 9, 347–404. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ocemod.2004.08.002.
- Sin, H.S., Sarmani, S., Siong, K.K., 2014. Radiological impact assessment of Fukushima Daiichi nuclear accident on Malaysian marine biotas via ocean partway using ERICA code system. Sains Malays. 43, 1565–1571.
- Sinclair, L.E., Seywerd, H.C.J., Fortin, R., Carson, J.M., Saull, P.R.B., Coyle, M.J., Van Brabant, R.A., Buckle, J.L., Desjardins, S.M., Hall, R.M., 2011. Aerial measurement of radioxenon concentration off the West Coast of Vancouver Island following the Fukushima reactor accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 102, 1018–1023. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvrad.2011.06.008.
- Smith, J.N., Brown, R.M., Williams, W.J., Robert, M., Nelson, R., Moran, S.B., 2015. Arrival of the Fukushima radioactivity plume in North American continental waters. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112, 1310–1315. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1412814112.
- Sorbjan, Z., 1989. Structure of the Atmospheric Boundary Layer. Pretice Hall, New Jersey. Stallard, B., 2014. Monkeys Around Fukushima Showing Abnormal Blood. Nature World News.
- Steinhauser, G., Merz, S., Hainz, D., Sterba, J., 2013a. Artificial radioactivity in environmental media (air, rainwater, soil, vegetation) in Austria after the Fukushima nuclear accident. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20, 2527–2534. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-1140-5.
- Steinhauser, G., Schauer, V., Shozugawa, K., 2013b. Concentration of strontium-90 at selected hot spots in Japan. PLoS ONE 8, e57760. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0057760.
- Stepanova, E., Karmaus, W., Naboka, M., Vdovenko, V., Mousseau, T., Shestopalov, V.M., Vena, J., Svendsen, E., Underhill, D., Pastides, H., 2008. Exposure from the Chernobyl accident had adverse effects on erythrocytes, leukocytes, and, platelets in children in the Narodichesky region, Ukraine: a 6-year follow-up study. Environ. Health 7, 1–13.
- Stohl, A., Seibert, P., Wotawa, G., Arnold, D., Burkhart, J.F., Eckhardt, S., Tapia, C., Vargas, A., Yasunari, T.J., 2012. Xenon-133 and caesium-137 releases into the atmosphere from the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear power plant: determination of the source term, atmospheric dispersion, and deposition. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. 11, 28319–28394. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/acpd-11-28319-2011.
- Takahashi, J., Tamura, K., Suda, T., Matsumura, R., Onda, Y., 2015. Vertical distribution and temporal changes of ¹³⁷Cs in soil profiles under various land uses after the Fukushima Dai-ichi Nuclear Power Plant accident. J. Environ. Radioact. 139, 351–361. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2014.07.004.
- Tanaka, T.Y., Chiba, M., 2005. Global simulation of dust aerosol with a chemical transport model, MASINGAR. J. Meteorol. Soc. Jpn. A 83, 255–278.
- Ten Hoeve, J.E., Jacobson, M.Z., 2012. Worldwide health effects of the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear accident. Energy Environ. Sci. 5, 8743–8757.
- Terada, H., Katata, G., Chino, M., Nagai, H., 2012. Atmospheric discharge and dispersion of radionuclides during the Fukushima Dai-ichi Nuclear Power Plant accident. Part II: verification of the source term and analysis of regional-scale atmospheric dispersion. J. Environ. Radioact. 112, 141–154.

Thakur, P., Ballard, S., Nelson, R., 2012. Radioactive fallout in the United States due to the Fukushima nuclear plant accident. J. Environ. Monit. 14, 1317–1324.

Tokonami, S., Hosoda, M., Akiba, S., Sorimachi, A., Kashiwakura, I., Balonov, M., 2012. Thyroid doses for evacuees from the Fukushima nuclear accident. Sci. Rep. 2.

- Toyoshima, K., Endo, T., Hirayoshi, Y., 2011. Measurement of ^{134,137}Cs concentrations in the air of Fukushima-City. Rep. Sci. Eng. Saga Univ. 40, 1–3.
- Tronko, T.D., Saenko, V.A., Shpak, V.M., Bogdanova, T.I., Suzuki, S., Yamashita, S., 2014. Age distribution of childhood thyroid cancer patients in Ukraine after Chernobyl and in Fukushima after the TEPCO-Fukushima Daiichi NPP Accident. Thyroid 24. http://dx. doi.org/10.1089/thy.2014.0198.
- Tsumune, D., Tsubono, T., Aoyama, M., Hirose, K., 2012. Distribution of oceanic ¹³⁷Cs from the Fukushima Dai-ichi Nuclear Power Plant simulated numerically by a regional ocean model. J. Environ. Radioact. 111, 100–108. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvrad.2011.10.007.
- Tubiana, M., Feinendegen, L.E., Yang, C., Kaminski, J.M., 2009. The linear no-threshold relationship is inconsistent with radiation biologic and experimental data 1. Radiology 251, 13–22.
- Tuo, F., Xu, C., Zhang, J., Zhou, Q., Li, W., Zhao, L., Zhang, Q., Zhang, J., Su, X., 2013. Radioactivity analysis following the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear accident. Appl. Radiat. Isot. 78, 77–81. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apradiso.2013.04.002.
- UNSCEAR, 2000. Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation. United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, New York.
- UNSCEAR, 2010. Summary of Low-dose Radiation Effects on Health. United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation.
- UNSCEAR, 2013. Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation. United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, New York.
- Von Hippel, F.N., 2011. The radiological and psychological consequences of the Fukushima Daiichi accident. Bull. At. Sci. 67, 27–36.
- Wada, T., Nemoto, Y., Shimamura, S., Fujita, T., Mizuno, T., Sohtome, T., Kamiyama, K., Morita, T., Igarashi, S., 2013. Effects of the nuclear disaster on marine products in Fukushima. J. Environ. Radioact. 124, 246–254. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad. 2013.05.008.
- Watanabe, Y., Se, I., Kubota, M., Hoshino, J., Kubota, Y., Maruyama, K., Fuma, S., Kawaguchi, I., Yoschenko, V.I., Yoshida, S., 2015. Morphological defects in native Japanese fir trees

around the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant. Sci. Rep. 5, 13232. http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/srep13232.

- Wetherbee, G.A., Debey, T.M., Nilles, M.A., Lehmann, C.M.B., Gay, D.A., 2012. Fission products in national atmospheric deposition program—wet deposition samples prior to and following the Fukushima Dai-Ichi Nuclear Power Plant incident, March 8-April 5, 2011. US Geological Survey Open File Report.
- WHO, 2013. Health Risk Assessment From the Nuclear Accident After the 2011 Great East Japan Earthquake and Tsunami Based on a Preliminary Dose Estimation. World Health Organisation.
- Winiarek, V., Bocquet, M., Duhanyan, N., Roustan, Y., Saunier, O., Mathieu, A., 2014. Estimation of the caesium-137 source term from the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant using a consistent joint assimilation of air concentration and deposition observations. Atmos. Environ. 82, 268–279. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. atmosenv.2013.10.017.
- Wu, J., Zhou, K., Dai, M., 2013. Impacts of the Fukushima nuclear accident on the China seas: evaluation based on anthropogenic radionuclide ¹³⁷Cs. Chin. Sci. Bull. 1–7.
- Yamana, H., Yamamoto, T., Moriyama, H., 2001. Isotopic ratio of Pu released from fuel cycle facilities – importance of radiochemically pure ²³⁶Pu as a tracer. In: Kudo, A. (Ed.), Radioactivity in the Environment. Elsevier.
- Yamashiro, H., Abe, Y., Fukuda, T., Kino, Y., Kawaguchi, I., Kuwahara, Y., Fukumoto, M., Takahashi, S., Suzuki, M., Kobayashi, J., Uematsu, E., Tong, B., Yamada, T., Yoshida, S., Sato, E., Shinoda, H., Sekine, T., Isogai, E., Fukumoto, M., 2013. Effects of radioactive caesium on bull testes after the Fukushima nuclear plant accident. Sci. Rep. 3. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep02850.
- Yasunari, T.J., Stohl, A., Hayano, R.S., Burkhart, J.F., Eckhardt, S., Yasunari, T., 2011. Cesium-137 deposition and contamination of Japanese soils due to the Fukushima nuclear accident. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 19530–19534. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1112058108.
- Zheng, J., Tagami, K., Watanabe, Y., Uchida, S., Aono, T., Ishii, N., Yoshida, S., Kubota, Y., Fuma, S., Ihara, S., 2012. Isotopic evidence of plutonium release into the environment from the Fukushima DNPP accident. Sci. Rep. 2.